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We have always pursued, even when

all we had was a truck or two, 

a single idea—the creation of value.

Today, at this point in our twenty-eight

year history, we’re still passionate

about that same purpose. 

The opportunities and challenges 

may change, we may be a little older

(and wiser!), but we are driven by that

same need: the creation of value.

Here’s how we’re doing it now.
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Neat idea…what’s it mean? 

Where we live, be the leading

resource in every market, 

in every service, 

for every customer.
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#1 OR #2 IN 

COLLECTION DIVISIONS

OF THE MARKETS WE SERVE

TRANSFER STATIONS

DISPOSAL FACILITIES

THE PREMIER MUNICIPAL 
RECYCLING SERVICE PROVIDER

Eastern Region

LEGEND

Central Region

Western Region

FCR Region
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No gut-twisting, heart-stopping

thrill ride here. No, sir. 

You can count on us to stick 

to what we know how to do—

grow thoughtfully and 

purposefully. Meet expectations.

Deliver performance.
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Aggressive divestitures, smart balance sheet

management and predictable cash flow have

allowed us to lower our debt, positioning us to

continue to deliver consistent performance.

DEBT

3.3%

5.3%

2002 2003

ORGANIC GROWTH
(EXCLUDING DIVESTITURES)

ORGANIC

Post-divestitures, our revenue is once again

generated by traditional, integrated solid waste

and recycling operations.

FOCUS ON

Our focus on market leadership

makes growth a reliable part of

the Casella story...even in the 

face of changing or uneven 

economic conditions.

REVENUE 2003

COLLECTIONS 51%

TRANSFER 12%

LANDFILL/DISPOSAL 16%

RECYCLING 21%

(BASED ON 2003 ACTUAL REVENUES, NET OF BROKERAGE REVENUE)

2000 2003

TOTAL DEBT OUTSTANDING
(IN MILLIONS)

$310

$450
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PURSUE
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This is where most companies 

unveil their plan to be the sole, 

leading provider of services in the 

entire universe. Godspeed. 

Fortunately, in our simple corner of 

the planet, there are significant

opportunities to grow and prosper, 

today and tomorrow. We will

pursue them. With discipline, 

with energy, with focus.
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Our region remains largely unconsolidated.

Numerous opportunities to densify our 

existing markets exist in areas such as upstate

New York and eastern Massachusetts.

As major publicly traded companies seek

to rationalize markets in the northeastern

United States, we remain the logical

buyer for many of these assets.

We’ve identified key development

opportunities in our core region,

ranging from disposal assets to

collection operations that we

believe would provide significant

platforms for growth.

$300 MILLION

$170 MILLION

$150 MILLION

Through the development of our people,

our mission is to become the premier

solid waste services company in 

North America. Our vision? Double the

size of our business by the continued

concentration of our existing core

franchise over the next three to five years.

Here are the opportunities we see. 

CORE MARKET
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We don’t want to be just a mile

wide and an inch deep. We want to

be a mile wide       a mile deep. 

It’s about how we “flood the zone”

(remember that?). It’s about getting

better at everything we do. 

It’s about continuing to build an

unparalleled infrastructure, market

by market. It’s about continuing to

develop highly skilled people not

just meeting, but exceeding,

expectations (including yours).

and 

OUR MARKET LEADERSHIP

CWS_annual_03.qxd  9/29/03  10:09 AM  Page 16



17

From safety to customer service, we’re obsessive about

getting better at everything we do. And we do mean

everything. Every day. Like what? We reduced our

employee turnover rate by over 25% and the amount of

workman’s compensation claims by 24% in 2003.

We’re building density in our markets, focusing on

reducing costs and improving the efficiency of our

operations. For example, in one of our major markets,

routing efficiency increased 44% through tuck-in

acquisitions and newly implemented routing software.

Our most important strategic focus, adding

disposal capacity, is the linchpin of our growth

plan. Our opportunities range from municipal

partnerships to the acquisition of existing facilities.

ADD

CAPACITY

OUR FRANCHISE

CONTINUOUSLY

T H E  C R E A T I O N  O F  V A L U E
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In every period and at every stage of our company’s history,

whether we were serving our first handful of customers, or

several hundred thousand throughout the eastern United States,

one of our most important motivations has been to create value.

This deep, enduring mission has been a powerful guide for

us—it has shaped our approach to our markets and our

customers, it has defined our priorities, and driven our decisions

and strategies.

The question for us is, and always has been: are we

creating long-term value?

It’s what we talk about during budget meetings, or when

we’re evaluating an acquisition. It’s what we’re aiming for when

we introduce a new training or safety program. It’s what we see

when we’re building an information systems infrastructure.

And while we’ve been fortunate to cross paths with many,

many opportunities to create value over most of the last 28

years, I have never been more certain that this company is as

well positioned to create value today as it has at any other time

in our history.

Of course, for each enterprise, those opportunities and paths to

value are different, as are the characteristics of each company. What

is exciting to us are those opportunities, paths and characteristics

that are particularly unique to Casella Waste Systems.

What you’ve seen in the preceding pages is the Casella

Waste Systems formula for creating value—what’s worked for us

in the past. Hopefully, we’ve also created for you an understanding

of what lies ahead—our strengths, our opportunities and our

priorities—and what the creation of value will look like.

“Flooding the Zone”

We have built a collection of assets and operations—from

disposal to collection to recycling—in our core markets that has

made us the premier integrated waste management solution for

a broad range of customers. This platform, which we believe

cannot be easily duplicated by competitors, gives us a

significant, long-term competitive edge.

Our primary focus in this area will be the addition of disposal

capacity throughout our markets, and particularly in our eastern

and western regions.

“Stable and Predictable”

Through divestitures and other strategic efforts, we have 

spent a great deal of time over the last few years returning to

our roots as a traditional solid waste services company.

Indeed, the vast majority of our cash flow is generated by

these assets. One of the most important pillars of value that

these businesses represent is their stability and predictability

generally, but also, combined with our market leadership, 

reliable, consistent performance. Evidence of this can be seen 

in our ability to grow pricing, even in a challenging economy.

We also put a new capital structure in place in January 2003

with the sale of $150 million in senior subordinated notes, and

the closing of a new senior secured credit facility. Combined with

our aggressive effort to continue to reduce  our debt, we feel

this new capital structure not only gives us the flexibility to

pursue responsible growth, but also provides a foundation for

consistent, reliable financial performance.

TO OUR FELLOW
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“Our Mission and Vision”

Through the development of our people, our mission is to

become the premier solid waste services company in North

America. Our vision? Double the size of our business by the

continued concentration of our existing core franchise over the

next three to five years. We are blessed with a significant

number of opportunities in our core northeastern U.S. markets

where we can enhance and fully leverage our dominant waste

services infrastructure. We’ve identified them, and have a

disciplined, energetic plan in place to pursue them.

Of all our opportunities, whether they be tuck-ins,

divestitures from other companies, or strategic acquisitions, our

top priority is the addition of disposal capacity throughout our

region. We are aggressively pursuing both the acquisition of

existing facilities and the development of municipal partnerships,

which is a particular Casella Waste Systems strength.

We’re already delivering results. In March 2003, we

acquired the Hardwick Landfill in central Massachusetts, a

construction and demolition debris facility with the potential to

permit additional municipal solid waste volumes.

In July, we announced a twenty-year service agreement with

the town of Templeton, Massachusetts to construct and operate

a new Subtitle D landfill. We expect this facility to become an

important regional disposal resource in eastern Massachusetts

when it becomes operational sometime in mid-2004.

Creating Value Every Day

Each of the more than 2,500 Casella Waste Systems

employees come to work every day with the purpose of creating

value—for our customers, for our shareholders, for our

communities and for their families. It simply does not get done

without them.

They have embraced everything we’ve asked of them—and

more. From safety to training, they are committed to continuous

improvement and service. They are raising their own standards

and strengthening their own fundamental skills.

They have made Casella Waste Systems a great team, and

a place I’m proud to go to work every day. I want to thank them

for their hard work; as an investor/owner, you should, too.

Thank you for your support.

Sincerely,

John W. Casella, 

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

August 15, 2003
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WE’RE

More than 2,500 people pursuing a vision.
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Cost of operations—Cost of operations decreased $44.5 million, or 13.9%, to $276.7 million in fiscal year 2002 from $321.2 million in

fiscal year 2001. This decrease arose mainly from lower volumes of recyclable material purchases and divestitures. Cost of operations as

a percentage of revenues decreased to 65.7% in fiscal year 2002 from 66.9% in the prior fiscal year. The decrease in cost of operations

as a percentage of revenues was primarily the result of a decreased contribution from brokerage operations, which carry a high cost of

operations as a percentage of revenues of approximately 90%. 

General and administration—General and administration expenses decreased $9.6 million, or 15.0%, to $54.5 million in fiscal year 2002

from $64.1 million in fiscal year 2001. General and administration expenses decreased slightly as a percentage of revenues to 12.9% in

fiscal year 2002 from 13.3% in the prior fiscal year. The decrease in general and administration expenses was primarily the result of

divestitures as well as lower legal and bad debt expenses. 

Depreciation and amortization—Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $2.7 million, or 5.1%, to $50.7 million in fiscal year

2002 from $53.4 million in fiscal year 2001. The decrease was attributable to lower intangible amortization due to the impairment charge

taken in fiscal year 2001 and the impact of divested entities. Depreciation and amortization expense as a percentage of revenues

increased to 12.0% in fiscal year 2002 from 11.1% in fiscal year 2001. The increase as a percentage of revenues resulted primarily from

a lower level of revenues. 

Impairment charge—In fiscal 2001, we determined that certain assets (mainly goodwill) were impaired and therefore recorded a charge

of $79.7 million to reduce those assets to their estimated fair value. The assets impaired mainly arose from the acquisition of KTI. 

Restructuring charge—A restructuring charge of $0.4 million in fiscal year 2002 represents the reversal of certain unrealized fiscal year

2001 restructuring expenses, partially offset by additional restructuring charges expensed in fiscal year 2002. 

Interest expense, net—Net interest expense decreased $8.1 million, or 21.0%, to $30.6 million in fiscal year 2002, from $38.7 million in

fiscal year 2001. This decrease is primarily attributable to lower average debt balances and lower interest rates on variable debt in the

current period, versus the prior period. Interest expense, as a percentage of revenues, decreased to 7.3% in fiscal year 2002 from 8.0%

in fiscal year 2001. 

(Income) loss from equity method investments, net—Income from equity method investments in fiscal year 2002 of $1.9 million reflects

equity income in our 50% joint venture interest in GreenFiber amounting to $4.3 million, offset by a $2.4 million loss related to our further

investment in the New Heights tire processing business. In the prior year, we recorded our share of a loss of $4.2 million, recorded at

GreenFiber due to significant transitional and restructuring expenses. In fiscal year 2001, equity method investment losses also included a

$22.0 million loss attributable to impairment charges taken to reduce our investment in Oakhurst Company, Inc. ("OCI") and New Heights

Recovery and Power, LLC ("New Heights"). 

A portion of our 50% interest in New Heights was sold in September 2001 for consideration of $0.3 million. We retained an interest

of 9.95% in the tire recycling assets of New Heights, as well as financial obligations related solely to the New Heights power plant. In

addition, we have an interest in certain notes granted by New Heights collectively valued at approximately $9.0 million, payment of which

is contingent upon certain events. We will record the contingent consideration when the contingency is removed. We are accounting for

our retained investment under the cost method of accounting. 

Minority interest—At April 30, 2002, this amount represented the minority owners' interest in AART, which recorded a loss for the period.

At April 30, 2001 minority interest reflected the minority owners' interest in our majority owned subsidiaries Maine Energy and PERC.

Effective March 1, 2001, we acquired the remaining 16.25% minority interest in Maine Energy and sold our majority interest in PERC. 

Other (income)/expense, net—Other income was $4.5 million in fiscal year 2002 compared to $0.1 million in other expenses in fiscal

year 2001. This increase is attributable to the divestitures of Multitrade and S&S Commercial, which resulted in a gain of $4.8 million.

Other income in fiscal year 2002 also includes a gain on the sale of Bangor Hydro warrants of $1.7 million and gains on the sale of

equipment of $0.1 million, offset by the write-off of $1.7 million of commodity hedges due to the bankruptcy of Enron, as well as

impairment of our U.S. Plastic Lumber Corp. equity holdings, amounting to $0.4 million. 
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Provision (benefit) for income taxes—Provision for income taxes increased $25.5 million in fiscal year 2002 to $5.1 million from a benefit

of $20.4 million in fiscal year 2001. This increase, as well as the change in the effective tax rate to 32.4%, is primarily due to the change

in pretax income to a profit, the tax benefit from the sale of 80.1% of our equity interest in New Heights in fiscal year 2002 and the 

write-off of non-deductible goodwill and the equity loss in OCI and in New Heights in fiscal year 2001. 

Reclassification from discontinued operations, net—In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, we entered into negotiations with former

employees for the transfer of our domestic brokerage operations and a commercial recycling business. The commercial recycling

business had been accounted for as a discontinued operation since fiscal 2001. Due to the nature of the transaction, we could not retain

discontinued accounting treatment for this operation. Therefore the commercial recycling business operating results have been

reclassified from discontinued to continuing operations for fiscal 2001, 2002 and 2003. In fiscal 2001, we estimated and accrued for

anticipated future losses from this business which were recorded and classified as losses from discontinued operations. This amount has

been reclassified and offset against actual losses from operations in fiscal 2001, 2002 and 2003. 

Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net—Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net increased $1.4

million to ($4.1) million in fiscal year 2002 from ($2.7) million in fiscal year 2001. The estimated loss on disposal of discontinued

operations, net in fiscal year 2002 was attributable to the loss on the sale of discontinued assets exceeding our estimates by $4.7 million,

partially offset by positive operating results of $0.6 million. 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net—On May 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133 establishing accounting and

reporting standards for derivative instruments. Because the relevant terms of certain interest rate swaps and the specific debts that they

were designated to hedge were not identical, we recorded the ineffective portion of the hedge amounting to a loss of $0.3 million (net of

tax benefit of $0.2 million) as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. 

L IQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our business is capital intensive. Capital requirements include acquisitions, fixed asset purchases and capital expenditures for landfill

development and cell construction as well as site and cell closure. We had a net working capital deficit of $4.8 million at April 30, 2003

compared to a net working capital deficit of $0.6 million at April 30, 2002. Working capital, net comprises current assets, excluding cash

and cash equivalents, minus current liabilities. The main factors accounting for the decrease were higher trade payable and accrual

balances, lower current deferred taxes, partially offset by decreases in current portion of debt payments and interest rate swap liabilities.

We had a net working capital of $33.1 million at April 30, 2001. The decrease from April 30, 2001 to April 30, 2002 is due primarily to

lower trade receivables, the sale of assets of discontinued operations and assets held for sale, the sale of current investments and the

increase in the current portion of accrued closure and post-closure costs. In 2002, the allowance for doubtful accounts was substantially

reduced from fiscal year 2001 because of our focus on collections and the resulting significant reduction in the old amounts outstanding

during the period. In 2003, the allowance for doubtful accounts remained relatively unchanged from fiscal year 2002. 

We have a $325.0 million credit facility with a group of banks for which Fleet Bank, N.A. is acting as agent. This credit facility

consists of a $175.0 million Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility ("Revolver") and a Senior Secured Term "B" Loan, which had an

outstanding balance of $150.0 million at April 30, 2003 ("Term Loan"). We have the right to increase the amount of the revolver and/or

the term loan by an aggregate amount of up to $50 million at our discretion, provided that we are not in default at the time of the

increase, subject to the receipt of commitments from lenders for such additional amount. The new term loan and revolving credit facility

agreement contains covenants that may limit our activities, including covenants that restrict dividends and stock repurchases, limit capital

expenditures, and set minimum net worth and profitability requirements and interest coverage and leverage ratios. As of April 30, 2003,

we considered the profitability covenant, which requires our cumulative adjusted net income for any two consecutive quarters to be

positive, to be the most restrictive. As of April 30, 2003, we were in compliance with this covenant as we reported consolidated adjusted

net income of $1.5 million for the six months ended April 30, 2003. Consolidated adjusted net income is defined by the credit facility

agreement. In accordance with such definition, consolidated net income, determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles, is adjusted for elimination of certain nonrecurring charges, extraordinary gains, income from discontinued operations and 

non-cash income attributable to equity investments. We used the net proceeds from the offering of the old notes and initial borrowings

under our new senior secured credit facilities to repay all outstanding amounts under our old senior secured credit facilities, for fees and

expenses related to the offering of the old notes and the new senior secured credit facilities and general corporate purposes. As of April

30, 2003, assuming the issuance of all existing letters of credit under our new senior secured credit facilities, we would have had available

borrowing capacity under our new $175.0 million revolving credit facility of up to $141.6 million, subject to our ability to meet certain
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borrowing conditions. We intend to use the additional availability under our new senior secured credit facilities to support our acquisition

program. This credit facility is secured by all of our assets, including its interest in the equity securities of its subsidiaries. The Revolver

matures in January 2008 and the Term Loan matures in January 2010. 

We have outstanding $150.0 million of 9.75% senior subordinated notes (the "notes"). The notes mature in January 2013. The senior

subordinated note agreement contains covenants that restrict dividends, stock repurchases and other payments, and limits the incurrence

of debt and issuance of preferred stock subject to our meeting a minimum consolidated fixed charge ratio. The notes are guaranteed

jointly and severally, fully and unconditionally by our significant wholly-owned subsidiaries. Pursuant to the terms of the agreements under

which the notes were issued, we are required to file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to an

exchange offer pursuant to which holders of the notes will have the right to exchange the notes for substantially similar registered notes.

Due to the need to revise our financial statements for 2001 for the reasons set forth elsewhere in this Form 10-K, this registration

statement has not yet become effective. Accordingly, we will be required to pay the holders, as liquidated damages, an amount per

annum equal to 0.50% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes for the first 90-day period commencing July 23, 2003, and an

increased amount thereafter until the registration statement has been declared effective. We believe that the registration statement will

be declared effective within this initial 90-day period. 

Net cash provided by operating activities in fiscal year 2003 and fiscal year 2002 amounted to $65.0 million and $67.7 million,

respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the cash outflows from landfill closure activities. Net cash provided by operating activities in

fiscal year 2002 increased by $4.4 million from $63.3 in fiscal year 2001. The increase was primarily due to the change in our working

capital, reflecting an improvement in our accounts receivable collections and an increase in the current portion of accrued closure and

post-closure costs. 

Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal year 2003 and fiscal year 2002 amounted to $61.2 million and $9.5 million, respectively.

The increase in cash used in investing activities reflected mainly lower proceeds from divestitures and an increase in acquisitions. The

increase in cash used in investing activities between years was also as a result of higher capital expenditures, which increased to $41.9

million in fiscal year 2003 from $37.7 million in fiscal year 2002. Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal year 2002 decreased by

$46.1 million from $55.6 in fiscal year 2001. The decrease in cash used in investing activities reflected higher proceeds from divestitures

and fewer acquisitions. The decrease in cash used in investing activities between 2001 and 2002 was also as a result of lower capital

expenditures, which decreased to $37.7 million in fiscal year 2002 from $61.5 million in fiscal year 2001. 

Net cash provided in financing activities was $7.6 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to net cash used by financing activities of

$70.1 in fiscal year 2002. This increase was primarily due to paying down less debt, net of borrowings, than in fiscal year 2002, partially

offset by refinancing costs of $11.5 million. Net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal year 2002 decreased $88.9 million from

$18.8 net cash provided in fiscal year 2001. This decrease was primarily due to paying down debt with proceeds from the divestitures. 

Our capital expenditures were $41.9 million in fiscal year 2003 compared to $37.7 million in fiscal year 2002. Capital spending was

higher in fiscal year 2003 mainly due to capital expenditures related to the upgrade of the truck fleet and facilities. Our capital

expenditures in fiscal year 2002 decreased $23.8 million from $61.5 in fiscal year 2001. The decrease was primarily related to a

significant non-recurring capital project in 2001 associated with Maine Energy odor control, and the upgrade of our truck fleet and

containers. We expect capital spending to total approximately $45.0 million in fiscal year 2004. 

During fiscal year 2003, we completed eight acquisitions for an aggregate consideration of $21.0 million, consisting of $18.1 million

in cash and $2.9 million in notes payable and other consideration. In comparison, during fiscal year 2002, we completed four acquisitions

for an aggregate consideration of $7.4 million, consisting of $4.6 million in cash and $2.8 million in notes payable and other consideration.

In fiscal year 2002, we completed our previously announced divestiture program which was announced in March 2001, from which we

received total consideration of $107.6 million, including cash proceeds of $61.7 million which were used to reduce our indebtedness. 
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commitments as of April 30, 2003 (in thousands) and the

anticipated effect of these obligations on its liquidity in future years: 

(1) Interest obligations based on long-term debt and capital lease balances as of April 30, 2003. Interest obligations related to variable rate debt calculated

using variable rates in effect at April 30, 2003. 

(2) Assumes redemption on the seventh anniversary of the closing date at the book value which includes all accrued and unpaid dividends. 

(3) Contractual cash obligations do not include accounts payable or accrued liabilities, which will be paid in fiscal year 2004. 

We believe that our cash provided internally from operations together with our senior secured credit facility should enable us to meet

our working capital and other cash needs for the foreseeable future. 

INFLATION AND PREVAIL ING ECONOMIC CONDIT IONS
To date, inflation has not had a significant impact on our operations. Consistent with industry practice, most of our contracts provide for a

pass-through of certain costs, including increases in landfill tipping fees and, in some cases, fuel costs. We therefore believe we should

be able to implement price increases sufficient to offset most cost increases resulting from inflation. However, competitive factors may

require us to absorb at least a portion of these cost increases, particularly during periods of high inflation. 

Our business is located mainly in the eastern United States. Therefore, our business, financial condition and results of operations are

susceptible to downturns in the general economy in this geographic region and other factors affecting the region, such as state

regulations and severe weather conditions. We are unable to forecast or determine the timing and/or the future impact of a sustained

economic slowdown. 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS No. 143 applies to all legally

enforceable obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. For us, this standard primarily impacts our accounting

for our landfill operations, specifically closure and post-closure costs. SFAS No. 143 requires entities to record the fair value of a liability

for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the entity capitalizes the cost

by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The liability is accreted to its present value each period and the

capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, the entity either settles the

obligation for the amount recorded or incurs a gain or loss. SFAS No. 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. We

will adopt SFAS No. 143 beginning May 1, 2003. The adoption of this standard will have no impact on cash flow. 

SFAS No. 143 does not change the basic accounting principles that we historically followed for accounting for these types of

obligations. In general, we have followed the practice of life cycle accounting which recognizes a liability on the balance sheet and related

expense as airspace is consumed at the landfill, in order to match operating costs with revenues. 

The primary modification to our methodology required by SFAS No. 143 is to require closure and post-closure costs to be discounted

to present value. Our estimates of future closure and post-closure costs historically have not taken into account discounts for the present

value of costs to be paid in the future. Under SFAS No. 143, our estimates of costs to discharge asset retirement obligations for landfills

are developed in today's dollars. These costs are then inflated each year to reflect a normal escalation of prices up to the year they are

expected to be paid. These estimated costs are then discounted to their present value using a credit adjusted risk-free rate. 

Under SFAS No. 143, we will no longer accrue landfill retirement obligations through a charge to cost of operations, but rather by an

increase to landfill assets. Under SFAS No. 143, the amortizable landfill assets include not only the landfill development costs incurred but

also the recorded capping, closure and post-closure liabilities as well as the cost estimates for future capping, closure and post-closure

costs. The landfill asset is amortized over the total capacity of the landfill, as airspace is consumed during the life of the landfill with one

Fiscal Year(s) 2004 2005-2006 2007-2008 THEREAFTER TOTAL

Long-term debt $ 4,534 $ 6,291 $ 3,272 $ 292,826 $ 306,923
Capital lease obligations 1,287 993 895 81 3,256
Interest obligations (1) 23,252 45,513 43,766 80,516 193,047
Operating leases 3,965 6,869 5,061 4,261 20,156
Closure/post-closure 3,587 9,105 5,493 64,250 82,435
Redeemable preferred securities (2) — — 78,951 — 78,951

Total contractual cash obligations (3) $ 36,625 $ 68,771 $ 137,438 $ 441,934 $ 684,768
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exception. The exception is for final capping for which both the recognition of the liability and the amortization of these costs are based

instead on the airspace consumed for the specific capping event. 

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 143 on May 1, 2003, we expect to record a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle of

$2,700 (net of taxes of $1,900). We expect that the impact of adopting SFAS No. 143 in fiscal 2004 as well as our annual update of cost

estimates, will decrease operating income by $300. 

Following is a summary of the expected balance sheet changes for landfill assets and capping, closure and post-closure liabilities at

May 1, 2003 (in thousands): 

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No.

13, and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145, among other things, restricts the classification of gains and losses from extinguishment of

debt as extraordinary such that most debt extinguishment gains and losses will no longer be classified as extraordinary. SFAS No. 145 is

effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. Upon adoption, gain and losses on debt extinguishment, if any, will be recorded in

pre-tax income. During fiscal year 2003, we recorded an extraordinary loss of $2,170 (net of income tax of $1,479) in connection with the

write-off of deferred financing costs related to the old term loan and the old revolver. This item will be reclassified to continuing operations

in fiscal 2004. 

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146

addresses costs such as restructuring, involuntary termination of employees and consolidating facilities but excludes from its scope exit

and disposal activities that are in connection with a business combination and those activities to which SFAS No. 143 and No. 144 are

applicable. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit and disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. We have not engaged in

or initiated any exit and disposal activities since December 31, 2002. 

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an

amendment of FAS 123. This statement amends FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide

alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee

compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both

annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the

method used in reporting results. SFAS No. 148 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. We have included the

required disclosures in these financial statements. Management is evaluating the effect of this statement on our results of operations and

financial position as well as related disclosures. 

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of APB No. 51 

("FIN 46"). FIN 46 requires that unconsolidated variable interest entities be consolidated by their primary beneficiary who absorbs a

majority of the entities expected losses or residual benefits. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January

31, 2003 and to existing variable interest entities in the periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Management is evaluating the effect of

this statement on our results of operations and financial position as well as related disclosures. 

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liability and

Equity. The statement changes the accounting of certain financial instruments that, under previous guidance, issuers could account for as

equity. The new statement requires that those instruments be classified as liabilities in statements of financial position. SFAS No. 150 is

effective for all financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first

interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. Management is evaluating the effect of the statement on our results of operations and

financial positions as well as related disclosures. 

BALANCE AT BALANCE AT
APRIL 30, 2003 CHANGE MAY 1, 2003

Landfill assets $ 148,029 $ 6,166 $ 154,195
Accumulated amortization (63,207) (9,394) (72,601)

Net landfill assets $ 84,822 $ (3,228) $ 81,594

Capping, closure, and post-closure liability $ 25,949 $ (7,855) $ 18,094 
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CERTAIN FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS
The following important factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking

statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and presented elsewhere by management from time to time.

The Company's increased leverage may restrict its future operations and impact its ability to make future acquisitions.

As a result of the acquisition of KTI, our indebtedness increased substantially. In addition, our indebtedness has increased further as a

result of our new credit facility and the completion of the offering of the senior subordinated notes. The payment of interest and principal

due under this indebtedness has reduced, and may continue to reduce, funds available for other business purposes, including capital

expenditures and acquisitions. In addition, the aggregate amount of indebtedness has limited and may continue to limit our ability to incur

additional indebtedness, and thereby may limit its acquisition program. 

We may not be successful in making acquisitions of solid waste assets, including developing additional disposal capacity, or in

integrating acquired businesses or assets, which could limit our future growth.
Our strategy envisions that a substantial part of our future growth will come from making acquisitions of traditional solid waste assets or

operations and acquiring or developing additional disposal capacity. These acquisitions may include "tuck-in" acquisitions within our

existing markets, assets that are adjacent to or outside our existing markets, or larger, more strategic acquisitions. In addition, from time

to time we may acquire businesses that are complementary to our core business strategy. We may not be able to identify suitable

acquisition candidates. If we identify suitable acquisition candidates, we may be unable to negotiate successfully their acquisition at a

price or on terms and conditions favorable to us. Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain the necessary regulatory approval to complete

potential acquisitions. 

Our ability to achieve the benefits we anticipate from acquisitions, including cost savings and operating efficiencies, depends in part

on our ability to successfully integrate the operations of such acquired businesses with our operations. The integration of acquired

businesses and other assets may require significant management time and company resources that would otherwise be available for the

ongoing management of our existing operations. 

In addition, the process of acquiring or developing additional disposal capacity is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. For example, we

are currently involved in litigation with the Town of Bethlehem, New Hampshire relating to the expansion of a landfill owned by our wholly

owned subsidiary, North Country Environmental Services, Inc. Moreover, the disposal capacity at our existing landfills is limited by the

remaining available volume at our landfills and annual and/or daily disposal limits imposed by the various governmental authorities with

jurisdiction over our landfills. We typically reach or approximate our daily and annual maximum permitted disposal capacity at all of our

landfills. If we are unable to develop or acquire additional disposal capacity, our ability to achieve economies from the internalization of our

waste stream will be limited and we may be required to increase our utilization of disposal facilities owned by third parties, which could

reduce our revenues and/or our operating margins. 

Our ability to make acquisitions is dependent on the availability of adequate cash and the attractiveness of our stock price.

We anticipate that any future business acquisitions will be financed through cash from operations, borrowings under our new senior

secured credit facilities, the issuance of shares of our Class A common stock and /or seller financing. We may not have sufficient

existing capital resources and may be unable to raise sufficient additional capital resources on terms satisfactory to us, if at all, in order to

meet our capital requirements for such acquisitions. 

We also believe that a significant factor in our ability to close acquisitions will be the attractiveness to us and to persons selling

businesses to us of our Class A common stock as consideration for potential acquisition candidates. This attractiveness may, in large

part, be dependent upon the relative market price and capital appreciation prospects of our Class A common stock compared to the

equity securities of our competitors. The trading price of our Class A common stock on the Nasdaq National Market has limited our

willingness to use our equity as consideration and the willingness of sellers to accept our shares and as a result has limited, and could

continue to limit, the size and scope of our acquisition program. 

Environmental regulations and litigation could subject us to fines, penalties, judgments and limitations on our ability to expand.

We are subject to potential liability and restrictions under environmental laws, including those relating to transport, recycling, treatment,

storage and disposal of wastes, discharges to air and water, and the remediation of contaminated soil, surface water and groundwater.

The waste management industry has been and will continue to be subject to regulation, including permitting and related financial
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assurance requirements, as well as to attempts to further regulate the industry through new legislation. Our waste-to-energy and

manufacturing facilities are subject to regulations limiting discharges of pollution into the air and water, and our solid waste operations are

subject to a wide range of federal, state and, in some cases, local environmental, odor and noise and land use restrictions. For example,

our waste-to-energy facility in Biddeford, Maine is affected by zoning restrictions and air emissions limitations in its efforts to implement a

new odor control system. See "Business—Regulation—State and Local Regulations." If we are not able to comply with the requirements

that apply to a particular facility or if we operate without necessary approvals, we could be subject to civil, and possibly criminal, fines and

penalties, and we may be required to spend substantial capital to bring an operation into compliance or to temporarily or permanently

discontinue, and/or take corrective actions, possibly including removal of landfilled materials, regarding an operation that is not permitted

under the law. We may not have sufficient insurance coverage for our environmental liabilities. Those costs or actions could be significant

to us and impact our results of operations, as well as our available capital. 

Environmental and land use laws also impact our ability to expand and, in the case of our solid waste operations, may dictate those

geographic areas from which we must, or, from which we may not, accept waste. Those laws and regulations may limit the overall size

and daily waste volume that may be accepted by a solid waste operation. If we are not able to expand or otherwise operate one or more

of our facilities because of limits imposed under environmental laws, we may be required to increase our utilization of disposal facilities

owned by third parties, which could reduce our revenues and/or operating margins. 

We have historically grown and intend to continue to grow through acquisitions, and we have tried and will continue to try to evaluate

and address environmental risks and liabilities presented by newly acquired businesses as we have identified them. It is possible that

some liabilities, including ones that may exist only because of the past operations of an acquired business, may prove to be more difficult

or costly to address than we anticipate. It is also possible that government officials responsible for enforcing environmental laws may

believe an issue is more serious than we would expect, or that we will fail to identify or fully appreciate an existing liability before we

become legally responsible to address it. Some of the legal sanctions to which we could become subject could cause us to lose a

needed permit, or prevent us from or delay us in obtaining or renewing permits to operate our facilities or harm our reputation. 

Our operating program depends on our ability to operate and expand the landfills we own and lease and to develop new landfill sites.

Localities where we operate generally seek to regulate some or all landfill operations, including siting and expansion of operations. The

laws adopted by municipalities in which our landfills are located may limit or prohibit the expansion of the landfill as well as the amount of

waste that we can accept at the landfill on a daily or annual basis and any effort to acquire or expand landfills typically involves a

significant amount of time and expense. For example, expansion at our North County Environmental Services, Inc. landfill will require the

New Hampshire Supreme Court to overturn a lower court ruling which interpreted a local ordinance to prohibit expansion of the landfill

with respect to 1.3 million tons of capacity, and expansion of our Hyland landfill is subject to the passage of a town-wide referendum. We

may not be successful in obtaining new landfill sites or expanding the permitted capacity of any of our current landfills once their

remaining disposal capacity has been consumed. If we are unable to develop additional disposal capacity, our ability to achieve economies

from the internalization of our waste stream will be limited and we will be required to utilize the disposal facilities of our competitors. 

In addition to the costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations, we incur costs defending against environmental

litigation brought by governmental agencies and private parties. We are, and also may be in the future, defendants in lawsuits brought by

parties alleging environmental damage, personal injury, and/or property damage. For example, we are one of over twenty defendants

named in a toxic tort lawsuit filed on July 2, 2001 by residents surrounding three sites in Cheektowaga, New York alleging, among other

things, that we have liability as a result of our airspace agreement at the Schultz construction and demolition debris landfill. In addition, we

are also a defendant in a lawsuit filed on January 10, 2002 by the City of Biddeford, Maine alleging, among other things, that our

subsidiary, Maine Energy, processed amounts of waste above contractual limits without notice to the city. A significant judgment against

us could harm our business, our prospects and our reputation. See "Business—Regulation" and "Business—Legal Proceedings." 

Our operations would be adversely affected if we do not have access to sufficient capital.

Our ability to remain competitive and sustain our operations depends in part on cash flow from operations and our access to capital. We

intend to fund our cash needs primarily through cash from operations and borrowings under our new senior secured credit facilities.

However, we may require additional equity and/or debt financing for debt repayment obligations and to fund our growth and operations. In

addition, if we undertake more acquisitions or further expand our operations, our capital requirements may increase. We may not have

access to the amount of capital that we require from time to time, on favorable terms or at all. 

Our results of operations could continue to be affected by changing prices or market requirements for recyclable materials.

Our results of operations have been and may continue to be affected by changing purchase or resale prices or market requirements for

recyclable materials. Our recycling business involves the purchase and sale of recyclable materials, some of which are priced on a
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commodity basis. The resale and purchase prices of, and market demand for, recyclable materials, particularly waste paper, plastic and

ferrous and aluminum metals, can be volatile due to numerous factors beyond our control. Although we seek to limit our exposure to

fluctuating commodity prices through the use of hedging agreements and long-term supply contracts with customers, these changes have

in the past contributed, and may continue to contribute, to significant variability in our period-to-period results of operations. 

Our business is geographically concentrated and is therefore subject to regional economic downturns.

Our operations and customers are principally located in the eastern United States. Therefore, our business, financial condition and results

of operations are susceptible to regional economic downturns and other regional factors, including state regulations and budget

constraints and severe weather conditions. In addition, as we expand in our existing markets, opportunities for growth within these

regions will become more limited and the geographic concentration of our business will increase. 

Maine Energy may be required to make a payment in connection with the payoff of certain obligations and limited partner loans

earlier than we had anticipated and which may exceed the amount of the liability we recorded in connection with the KTI acquisition.

Under the terms of waste handling agreements among the Biddeford-Saco Waste Handling Committee, the cities of Biddeford and Saco,

Maine, 13 other municipalities and our subsidiary Maine Energy, Maine Energy will be required, following the date on which the bonds that

financed Maine Energy and certain limited partner loans to Maine Energy are paid in full, to pay a residual cancellation payment to the

respective municipalities party to those agreements equal to an aggregate of 18% of the fair market value of the equity of the partners in

Maine Energy. In connection with our merger with KTI, we estimated the fair market value of Maine Energy as of the date the limited

partner loans are anticipated to be paid in full, and recorded a liability equal to 18% of such amount. Our estimate of the fair market value

of Maine Energy may not prove to be accurate, and in the event we have underestimated the value of Maine Energy, we could be required

to recognize unanticipated charges, in which case our operating results could be harmed. 

In connection with these waste handling agreements, the cities of Biddeford and Saco and the additional 13 municipalities that were

parties to the agreements have filed lawsuits in the State of Maine seeking the residual cancellation payments and alleging, among other

things, our breach of the waste handling agreement for our failure to pay the residual cancellation payments in connection with the KTI

merger, failure to pay off limited partner loans in accordance with the terms of the agreement and processing amounts of waste above

contractual limits without issuance of proper notice. The complaint seeks damages for breach of contract and a court order requiring us to

provide an accounting of all relevant transactions since May 3, 1996. If the plaintiffs are successful in their claims against us and damages

are awarded our operating income in the period in which such a claim is paid would be impacted. See "Business—Legal Proceedings." 

We may not be able to effectively compete in the highly competitive solid waste services industry.
The solid waste services industry is highly competitive, has undergone a period of rapid consolidation and requires substantial labor and

capital resources. Some of the markets in which we compete or will likely compete are served by one or more of the large national or

multinational solid waste companies, as well as numerous regional and local solid waste companies. Intense competition exists not only to

provide services to customers, but also to acquire other businesses within each market. Some of our competitors have significantly

greater financial and other resources than us. From time to time, competitors may reduce the price of their services in an effort to expand

market share or to win a competitively bid contract. These practices may either require us to reduce the pricing of our services or result in

our loss of business. 

As is generally the case in the industry, some municipal contracts are subject to periodic competitive bidding. We may not be the

successful bidder to obtain or retain these contracts. If we are unable to compete with larger and better capitalized companies, or to

replace municipal contracts lost through the competitive bidding process with comparable contracts or other revenue sources within a

reasonable time period our revenues would decrease and our operating results would be harmed. 

In our solid waste disposal markets we also compete with operators of alternative disposal and recycling facilities and with counties,

municipalities and solid waste districts that maintain their own waste collection, recycling and disposal operations. These entities may

have financial advantages because user fees or similar charges, tax revenues and tax-exempt financing may be more available to them

than to us. 

Our GreenFiber insulation manufacturing joint venture with Louisiana-Pacific Corporation competes with other parties, principally

national manufacturers of fiberglass insulation, which have substantially greater resources than GreenFiber does, which they could use for

product development, marketing or other purposes to our detriment. 
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Our results of operations and financial condition may be negatively affected if we inadequately accrue for closure and 

post-closure costs.

We have material financial obligations relating to closure and post-closure costs of our existing landfills and will have material financial

obligations with respect to any disposal facilities which we may own or operate in the future. Once the permitted capacity of a particular

landfill is reached and additional capacity is not authorized, the landfill must be closed and capped, and post-closure maintenance started.

We establish reserves for the estimated costs associated with such closure and post-closure obligations over the anticipated useful life of

each landfill on a per ton basis. In addition to the landfills we currently operate, we own four unlined landfills, which are not currently in

operation. We have provided and will in the future provide accruals for financial obligations relating to closure and post-closure costs of

our owned or operated landfills, generally for a term of 30 years after final closure of a landfill. Our financial obligations for closure or 

post-closure costs could exceed the amount accrued and reserved or amounts otherwise receivable pursuant to trust funds established

for this purpose. Such a circumstance could result in significant unanticipated charges. 

Fluctuations in fuel costs could affect our operating expenses and results.

The price and supply of fuel is unpredictable and fluctuates based on events beyond our control, including among others, geopolitical

developments, supply and demand for oil and gas, actions by OPEC and other oil and gas producers, war and unrest in oil producing

countries and regional production patterns. Because fuel is needed to run our fleet of trucks, price escalations for fuel increase our

operating expenses. During fiscal 2003, we used approximately 6.5 million gallons of diesel fuel in our solid waste operations. Although

many of our customer contracts permit us to pass on some or all fuel increases to our customers, we may choose not to do so for

competitive reasons. 

We could be precluded from entering into contracts or obtaining permits if we are unable to obtain third party financial assurance to

secure our contractual obligations.

Municipal solid waste collection and recycling contracts, obligations associated with landfill closure and the operation and closure of

waste-to-energy facilities may require performance or surety bonds, letters of credit or other means of financial assurance to secure our

contractual performance. If we are unable to obtain the necessary financial assurance in sufficient amounts or at acceptable rates, we

could be precluded from entering into additional municipal solid waste collection contracts or from obtaining or retaining landfill operating

permits. Any future difficulty in obtaining insurance could also impair our ability to secure future contracts conditioned upon the contractor

having adequate insurance coverage. 

We may be required to write-off capitalized charges or intangible assets in the future, which could harm our earnings.

Any write-off of capitalized costs or intangible assets reduces our earnings and, consequently, could affect the market price of our Class

A common stock. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, we capitalize certain expenditures and advances relating

to our acquisitions, pending acquisitions, landfills and development projects. From time to time in future periods, we may be required to

incur a charge against earnings in an amount equal to any unamortized capitalized expenditures and advances, net of any portion thereof

that we estimate will be recoverable, through sale or otherwise, relating to (1) any operation that is permanently shut down or has not

generated or is not expected to generate sufficient cash flow, (2) any pending acquisition that is not consummated, (3) any landfill or

development project that is not expected to be successfully completed, and (4) any goodwill or other intangible assets that are

determined to be impaired. We have incurred such charges in the past. 

Our revenues and our operating income experience seasonal fluctuations.

Our transfer and disposal revenues have historically been lower during the months of November through March. This seasonality reflects

the lower volume of waste during the late fall, winter and early spring months primarily because: 

• the volume of waste relating to construction and demolition activities decreases substantially during the winter months in the
northeastern United States; and 

• decreased tourism in Vermont, Maine and eastern New York during the winter months tends to lower the volume of waste generated by
commercial and restaurant customers, which is partially offset by increased volume from the winter ski industry. 

Since certain of our operating and fixed costs remain constant throughout the fiscal year, operating income is therefore impacted by

a similar seasonality. In addition, particularly harsh weather conditions typically result in increased operating costs to our operations. 
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Our recycling business experiences increased volumes of newspaper in November and December due to increased newspaper

advertising and retail activity during the holiday season. Our cellulose insulation joint venture experiences lower sales in November and

December because of lower production of manufactured housing due to holiday plant shutdowns. 

Efforts by labor unions to organize our employees could divert management attention and increase our operating expenses.

Labor unions regularly make attempts to organize our employees, and these efforts will likely continue in the future. Certain groups of our

employees have chosen to be represented by unions, and we have negotiated collective bargaining agreements with these groups.

Additional groups of employees may seek union representation in the future, and the negotiation of collective bargaining agreements

could divert management attention and result in increased operating expenses and lower net income. If we are unable to negotiate

acceptable collective bargaining agreements, we might have to wait through "cooling off" periods, which are often followed by union-

initiated work stoppages, including strikes. Depending on the type and duration of any labor disruptions, our revenues could decrease and

our operating expenses could increase, which could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. As of

July 1, 2003, approximately 5.1% of our employees involved in collection, transfer, disposal, recycling or other operations, including our

employees at our Maine Energy waste-to-energy facility, were represented by unions. 

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share and is held exclusively by John W. Casella and Douglas R. Casella.

The holders of our Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes per share and the holders of our Class A common stock are entitled

to one vote per share. At July 1, 2003, an aggregate of 988,200 shares of our Class B common stock, representing 9,882,000 votes,

were outstanding, all of which were beneficially owned by John W. Casella, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, or by his brother,

Douglas R. Casella, a member of our Board of Directors. Based on the number of shares of common stock and Series A redeemable

convertible preferred stock outstanding on July 1, 2003, the shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock

beneficially owned by John W. Casella and Douglas R. Casella represent approximately 30.9% of the aggregate voting power of our

stockholders. Consequently, John W. Casella and Douglas R. Casella are able to substantially influence all matters for stockholder

consideration, including exercising their influence over us according to interests that may differ from the interests of holders of the senior

subordinated notes. For instance, they may approve transactions that in their judgment enhance the value of their equity investment in us

despite involving risks to holders of the notes. 

I T E M  7 A .  Q U A N T I T A T I V E  A N D  Q U A L I T A T I V E  D I S C L O S U R E  A B O U T  M A R K E T  R I S K

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK.
At April 30, 2003, our outstanding variable rate debt consisted of the $150.0 million term loan portion of our new senior secured credit

facility. If interest rates on this variable rate debt increased or decreased by 100 basis points, our annual interest expense would increase

or decrease by approximately $1.5 million. In addition, the revolving credit facility portion of our new senior secured credit facility, as it

may be outstanding from time to time, is variable rate debt. 

The remainder of our debt is at fixed rates and not subject to interest rate risk. 

On February 24, 2003, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements with two banks, effectively fixing the interest index rate

on a notional $53.0 million at approximately 2.4%. These hedges are specifically designated to existing interest payments under the term

loan and are accounted for as effective cash flow hedges pursuant to SFAS No. 133. The fair value of the swaps is estimated at a loss of

$0.6 million as of April 30, 2003. 

We are subject to commodity price fluctuations related to the portion of our sales of recyclable commodities that are not under floor

or flat pricing arrangements. As of April 30, 2003, to minimize our commodity exposure, we were party to twelve commodity hedging

agreements. We do not use financial instruments for trading purposes and are not a party to any leveraged derivatives. If commodity

prices were to change by 10%, the impact on our operating margin is estimated at $3.9 million as of April 30, 2003, without considering

our hedging agreements. The effect of the hedge position would reduce the impact by approximately $0.5 million. 

On December 2, 2001, Enron Corporation ("Enron"), the counterparty for all of our commodity hedges as of that date, filed for Chapter

11 bankruptcy protection. As a result of the filing, we executed the early termination provisions provided under the forward contracts, and

filed a claim with the bankruptcy court. Additionally, we agreed with our equity method investee, GreenFiber, to include GreenFiber in our

claim (as allowed under the applicable affiliate provisions). We recorded a charge of $1.7 million in fiscal 2002 other expense to recognize

the change in fair value of our commodity contracts. Subsequent changes in the fair value of these commodity contracts were reflected in

earnings until their March 2003 termination. We have no remaining exposure related to our claims against Enron. 
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I TEM 8 .  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS  AND SUPPLEMENTARY  DATA  

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Casella Waste Systems, Inc:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) on page 100 present fairly, in all

material respects, the financial position of Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") at April 30, 2003 and April 30,

2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 2003 in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our

audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An

audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We

believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on May 1, 2001, the Company changed its method of accounting for

derivative instruments and hedging activities. 

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on May 1, 2002, the Company changed its method of accounting for

goodwill and other intangible assets, and its method of accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets.

By: /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts

Date: July 22, 2003
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets (In thousands)

Assets APRIL 30, APRIL 30,
2002 2003

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,298 $ 15,652
Restricted cash 10,286 10,839
Accounts receivable—trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $821 and $895 43,069 45,649
Notes receivable—officers/employees 1,105 1,105
Prepaid expenses 3,132 5,906
Inventory 2,414 1,740
Deferred income taxes 8,767 4,275
Other current assets 4,245 1,111

Total current assets 77,316 86,277

Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization of $163,556 and $201,681 287,206 302,328

Intangible assets, net 223,643 162,696
Deferred income taxes 648 —
Investments in unconsolidated entities 26,865 34,740
Net assets under contractual obligation — 3,844
Other non-current assets 5,933 12,756

544,295 516,364
$ 621,611 $ 602,641

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statementsThe accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Balance Sheets  (Continued) (In thousands, except for share and per share data)

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity APRIL 30, APRIL 30,
2002 2003  

Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt $ 6,436 $ 4,534
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 1,816 1,287
Accounts payable 24,154 33,743
Accrued payroll and related expenses 5,797 7,383
Accrued interest 1,481 5,375
Accrued income taxes 3,676 4,526
Accrued closure and post-closure costs, current portion 6,465 2,962
Other accrued liabilities 23,828 15,662

Total current liabilities 73,653 75,472

Long-term debt, less current maturities 277,545 302,389
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 3,051 1,969
Accrued closure and post-closure costs, less current maturities 18,307 22,987
Minority interest 523 —
Deferred income taxes — 5,473
Other long-term liabilities 11,006 11,375

Commitments and Contingencies 
Series A redeemable, convertible preferred stock, 55,750 shares authorized,

issued and outstanding as of April 30, 2002 and 2003, liquidation 
preference of $1,000 per share plus accrued but unpaid dividends 60,730 63,824

Stockholders’ Equity:
Class A common stock—Authorized—100,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value 

issued and outstanding—22,667,000 and 22,769,000 shares
as of April 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively 227 228

Class B common stock—Authorized—1,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value 
10 votes per share, issued and outstanding—988,000 shares 10 10

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4,250) 542
Additional paid-in capital 272,697 270,068
Accumulated deficit (91,888) (151,696)
Total stockholders’ equity 176,796 119,152

$ 621,611 $ 602,641

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

10K2003(9x12.5).qxd  9/29/03  10:39 AM  Page 60



2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 K

61

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Statements of Operation (In thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Revenues $ 480,366 $ 421,235 $ 420,863

Operating expenses:
Cost of operations 321,214 276,693 278,347
General and administration 64,079 54,456 55,772
Depreciation and amortization 53,411 50,712 47,930
Impairment charge 79,687 — 4,864
Restructuring charge 4,151 (438) —
Legal settlements 4,209 — —
Other miscellaneous charges 1,604 — —

528,355 381,423 386,913

Operating income (loss) (47,989) 39,812 33,950

Other expense/(income), net:
Interest income (2,974) (904) (318)
Interest expense 41,628 31,451 26,572
(Income) loss from equity method investments 26,256 (1,899) (2,073)
Minority interest 1,026 (154) (152)
Other (income)/expense, net 76 (4,480) (1,599)

Other expense, net 66,012 24,014 22,430

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes,
discontinued operations, extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle (114,001) 15,798 11,520

Provision (benefit) for income taxes (20,443) 5,111 5,292
Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued operations, 

extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (93,558) 10,687 6,228
Discontinued Operations:

Loss from discontinued operations (net of income tax benefit of $1,069) (4,130) — —
Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations 
(net of income tax benefit of $274 and $157) (2,657) (4,096) —
Reclassification from discontinued operations (net of income (provision) 
benefit of $810, ($776) and ($34)) (1,190) 1140 50

Extraordinary loss—early extinguishment of debt (net of income tax benefit of $1,479) — — (2,170)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 

(net of income tax benefit of $170 and $189) — (250) (63,916)

Net (loss) income (101,535) 7,481 (59,808)
Preferred stock dividend 1,970 3,010 3,094

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders $ (103,505) $ 4,471 $ (62,902)
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Statements of Operation (Continued) (In thousands, except for per share data)

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Earnings Per Share:
Basic:

Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued operations, 
extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ (4.12) $ 0.33 $ 0.13

Loss from discontinued operations, net (0.18) — —
Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net (0.11) (0.18) —
Reclassification from discontinued operations, net (0.05) 0.05 —
Extraordinary loss—early extinguishment of debt, net — — (0.09)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net — (0.01) (2.69)

Net (loss) income per common share $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.65)

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 23,189 23,496 23,716

Diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued operations, 

extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ (4.12) $ 0.32 $ 0.13
Loss from discontinued operations, net (0.18) — —
Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net (0.11) (0.17) —
Reclassification from discontinued operations, net (0.05) 0.05 —
Extraordinary loss—early extinguishment of debt, net — — (0.09)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net — (0.01) (2.67)

Net (loss) income per common share $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.63)

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 23,189 24,169 23,904

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity (In thousands)

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CLASS A CLASS B
COMMON COMMON 

STOCK STOCK 

# of Shares Par Value # Of Shares Par Value 

Balance, April 30, 2000 22,215 $ 222 988 $ 10 
Issuance of Class A common stock from the exercise of

stock options and employee stock purchase plan 32 — — —
Issuance of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock — — — —
Accrual of preferred stock dividend — — — —
Equity transactions of majority-owned subsidiary — — — —
Net loss — — — —
Unrealized gain on securities — — — —

Total comprehensive loss — — — —

Other (49) — — —

Balance, April 30, 2001 22,198 $ 222 988 $ 10

Issuance of Class A common stock 12 $ — — $ —
Issuance of Class A common stock from the exercise of

stock warrants, options and employee stock purchase plan 457 5 — —
Accrual of preferred stock dividend — — — —
Net income — — — —
Unrealized gain/(loss) on securities, net of reclassification

adjustments — — — —
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps and commodity

hedges, net of reclassification adjustments — — — —

Total comprehensive income — — — —

Other — — — —

Balance, April 30, 2002 22,667 $ 227 988 $ 10

Issuance of Class A common stock from the exercise of
stock warrants, options and employee stock purchase plan 102 $ 1 — $ —

Accrual of preferred stock dividend — — — —
Net loss — — — —
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps and commodity

hedges, net of reclassification adjustments — — — —

Total comprehensive loss — — — —

Other — — — —

Balance, April 30, 2003 22,769 $ 228 988 $ 10

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity (In thousands)

ACCUMULATED 
ADDITIONAL OTHER TOTAL TOTAL

PAID-IN ACCUMULATED COMPREHENSIVE STOCKHOLDERS’ COMPREHENSIVE
CAPITAL DEFICIT INCOME (LOSS) EQUITY INCOME (LOSS)

Balance, April 30, 2000 $ 270,655 $ 4,136 $ (305) $ 274,718
Issuance of Class A common stock from the exercise of

stock options and employee stock purchase plan 258 — — 258
Issuance of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock (1,009) — — (1,009)
Accrual of preferred stock dividend — (1,970) — (1,970)
Equity transactions of majority-owned subsidiary 1,506 — — 1,506
Net loss — (101,535) — (101,535) $ (101,535)
Unrealized gain on securities — — 891 891 891

Total comprehensive loss — — — — $ (100,644)

Other 92 — — 92

Balance, April 30, 2001 $ 271,502 $ (99,369) $ 586 $ 172,951

Issuance of Class A common stock $ 138 $ — $ — $ 138
Issuance of Class A common stock from the exercise of

stock warrants, options and employee stock purchase plan 4,063 — — 4,068
Accrual of preferred stock dividend (3,010) — (3,010)

Net income — 7,481 — 7,481 $ 7,481
Unrealized gain/(loss) on securities, net of reclassification

adjustments — — (586) (586) (586)
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps and commodity

hedges, net of reclassification adjustments — — (4,250) (4,250) (4,250)

Total comprehensive income — — — — $ 2,645

Other 4 — — 4

Balance, April 30, 2002 $ 272,697 $ (91,888) $ (4,250) $ 176,796

Issuance of Class A common stock from the exercise of
stock warrants, options and employee stock purchase plan $ 459 $ — $ — $ 460

Accrual of preferred stock dividend (3,094) — (3,094)
Net loss — (59,808) — (59,808) $ (59,808)
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps and commodity

hedges, net of reclassification adjustments — — 4,792 4,792 4,792

Total comprehensive loss — — — — $ (55,016)

Other 6 — — 6

Balance, April 30, 2003 $ 270,068 $ (151,696) $ 542 $ 119,152
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (In thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net (loss) income $ (101,535) $ 7,481 $ (59,808)

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by
operating activities—
Depreciation and amortization 53,411 50,712 47,930
Loss from discontinued operations, net 4,130 — —
Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net 2,657 4,096 —
Reclassification from discontinued operations, net 1,190 (1,140) (50)
Extraordinary loss—early extinguishment of debt, net — — 2,170
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net — 250 63,916
(Income) loss from equity method investments 26,256 (1,899) (2,073)
Impairment charge 79,687 — 4,864
Loss from commodity hedge contracts, net — 1,289 —
Gain on investments, net (3,131) (1,216) —
Loss (gain) on sale of equipment 1,101 (76) 386
Gain on sale of assets — (4,848) (684)
Minority interest 1,026 (154) (152)
Deferred income taxes (10,866) 6,121 7,531
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and

divestitures—
Accounts receivable 16,692 8,116 (7,466)
Accounts payable (6,643) (5,100) 12,031
Other assets and liabilities (714) 4,055 (3,643)

164,796 60,206 124,760

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 63,261 67,687 64,952

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (9,331) (4,601) (18,068)
Proceeds from divestitures, net of cash divested 15,814 31,216 875
Additions to property, plant and equipment (61,518) (37,674) (41,925)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 2,298 1,938 1,212
Proceeds from sale of investments 6,718 3,530 —
Advances to unconsolidated entities (9,546) (3,942) (3,302)

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (55,565) (9,533) (61,208)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 49,590 73,384 380,521
Principal payments on long-term debt (87,331) (147,009) (361,905)
Proceeds from equity transactions of majority-owned subsidiary 1,506 — —
Deferred financing costs — — (11,466)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 259 3,560 460
Proceeds from the issuance of series A redeemable, convertible preferred

stock, net 54,741 — —

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities 18,765 (70,065) 7,610

Cash used in discontinued operations (12,248) (5,792) —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14,213 (17,703) 11,354
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 7,788 22,001 4,298

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 22,001 $ 4,298 $ 15,652
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CASELLA WASTE SYSTEMS, INC.  AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ( IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE DATA)

1.  ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Casella Waste Systems, Inc. ("the Company" or "the Parent") is a regional, integrated solid waste services company, that provides

collection, transfer, disposal and recycling services, primarily in the eastern United States. The Company markets recyclable metals,

aluminum, plastics, paper and corrugated cardboard which has been processed at its facilities as well as recyclables purchased from third

parties. The Company also generates and sells electricity under a long-term contract at a waste-to-energy facility, Maine Energy Recovery

Company LP ("Maine Energy") (see Note 12). 

A summary of the Company's significant accounting policies follows: 

(a) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries. All

significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 

(b) Use of Estimates and Assumptions 

The Company's preparation of its financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to

make certain estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of the contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. The estimates and assumptions will also affect

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Summarized below are the estimates and assumptions that

the Company considers to be significant in the preparation of its financial statements. 

Landfill Accounting—Capitalized Costs and Amortization 

The Company uses life-cycle accounting and the units-of-production method to recognize certain landfill costs. Under life-cycle

accounting, all costs related to acquisition, construction, closure and post-closure of landfill sites are capitalized or accrued and charged

to income based on tonnage placed into each site. The Company routinely reviews its investment in operating landfills, transfer stations

and other significant facilities to determine whether the costs of these investments is realizable. The Company's judgments regarding the

existence of impairment indicators are based on regulatory factors, market conditions and operational performance of its landfills. 

Units-of-production amortization rates are determined annually for each of the Company's operating landfills, and such rates are

based on estimates provided by its engineers and accounting personnel and consider the information provided by surveys, which are

performed at least annually.

Landfill Accounting—Accrued Closure and Post-Closure Costs 

Accrued closure and post-closure costs represent future estimated costs related to monitoring and maintenance of a solid waste landfill,

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) (In thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid (received) during the period for—

Interest $ 37,484 $ 32,887 $ 20,763
Income taxes, net of refunds $ (1,773) $ (1,267) $ 54

Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Summary of entities acquired in purchase business combinations

Fair market value of assets acquired $ 22,602 $ 7,377 $ 27,756
Notes receivable exchanged for assets (13,263) — —
Cash paid, net (9,335) (4,601) (18,068)

Liabilities assumed, Notes Payable to Seller $ 4 $ 2,776 $ 9,688
Common Stock and Stock Options Issued as Compensation $ — $ 650 $ —
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after a landfill facility ceases to accept waste and closes. The Company provides accruals for these estimated future costs on an

undiscounted basis as the remaining permitted airspace of such facilities is consumed. 

Recovery of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposed of Long-Lived Assets, the Company continually reviews its

long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the remaining estimated useful life of such

assets might warrant revision or that the balances may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded if the amount by which the

carrying amount of the assets exceeds their fair value. Fair value is usually determined based on the present value of estimated expected

future cash flows using a discount rate commensurate with the risks involved. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The Company estimates the allowance for bad debts based on historical collection experience, current trends, credit policy and a review

of accounts receivable by aging category. 

Self Insurance Reserves 

The Company is self insured for vehicles and worker's compensation. Through the use of actuarial calculations provided by a third party,

the Company estimates the amounts required to settle insurance claims. The actuarially-determined liability is calculated in part by past

claims experience, which considers both the frequency and settlement of claims. The Company's self insurance reserves totaled $6,060

and $8,935 at April 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively. 

Discontinued Operations 

Prior to fiscal year 2003, the Company carried discontinued businesses at estimated net realizable value less costs to be incurred

through the date of disposition. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 144, the assets and liabilities of discontinued operations are separately

classified in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

The Company uses estimates to determine its provision for income taxes and related assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance

recorded against its net deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances have been established for the possibility that tax benefits may not be

realized for certain deferred tax assets. 

(c) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes collection, transfer, recycling and disposal revenues as the services are provided. Certain customers are billed

in advance and, accordingly, recognition of the related revenues is deferred until the services are provided. 

Revenues from the sale of electricity to local utilities by the Company's waste-to-energy facility (see Note 12) are recorded at the

contract rate specified by its power purchase agreement as the electricity is delivered. 

Revenues from the sale of recycled materials are recognized upon shipment. Rebates to certain municipalities based on sales of

recyclable materials are recorded upon the sale of such recyclables to third parties and are included as a reduction to revenues.

Revenues for processing of recyclable materials are recognized when the related service is provided. 

Revenues from brokerage are recognized at the time of shipment. 

(d) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company's financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, investments in closure trust funds,

trade payables and debt instruments. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their respective fair values. See Note

11 for the terms and carrying values of the Company's various debt instruments. 

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

(f) Inventory 

Inventory includes secondary fibers, recyclables ready for sale and supplies and is stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.

Inventory consisted of finished goods and supplies of approximately $2,410 and $1,814 at April 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively. 

(g) Investments 

In accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, the Company classifies its investment

in equity securities as "available for sale." Accordingly, the carrying value of the securities is adjusted to fair value through other

comprehensive (loss) income. 
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In October, 2001, the Company sold its remaining Bangor Hydro Warrants for $3,530. The resulting gain of $1,654 is included in

other income. $1,038 (net of taxes of $707) of the gain was reclassified from other comprehensive (loss) income. The Company used the

specific identification method as a basis for calculating the gain on sale. 

For the period ending April 30, 2002 and 2003, the Company wrote down to fair value certain equity security investments. The write

downs, which were reclassified from other comprehensive (loss) income, amounted to $438 and $42, respectively, and were due to

declines in the fair value which, in the opinion of management, were considered to be other than temporary. The write downs are included

in other (income)/expense in the accompanying statements of operations. 

As of April 30, 2002 and 2003, the fair value of investments was approximately $62 and $20, respectively, which is included in other

current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. The Company provides for

depreciation and amortization using the straight-line method by charges to operations in amounts that allocate the cost of the assets over

their estimated useful lives as follows (See Note 6): 

The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operations as incurred. 

Capitalized landfill costs include expenditures for land and related airspace, permitting costs and preparation costs. Landfill permitting

and preparation costs represent only direct costs related to these activities, including legal, engineering and construction. Landfill

preparation costs include the costs of construction associated with excavation, liners, site berms and the installation of leak detection and

leachate collection systems. Interest is capitalized on landfill permitting and construction projects while the assets are undergoing

activities to ready them for their intended use. The interest capitalization rate is based on the Company's weighted average cost of

indebtedness. Interest capitalized for the years ended April 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003 was $373, $437 and $719, respectively.

Management routinely reviews its investment in operating landfills, transfer stations and other significant facilities to determine whether

the costs of these investments are realizable. 

Landfill permitting, acquisition and preparation costs, excluding the estimated residual value of land, are amortized as landfill

airspace is consumed. In determining the amortization rate for these landfills, preparation costs include the total estimated costs to

complete construction of the landfills' permitted and permittable capacity. To be considered permittable, airspace must meet all of the

following criteria: the Company must control the land on which the expansion is sought; all technical siting criteria have been met or a

variance has been obtained or is reasonably expected to be obtained; no legal or political impediments have been identified which the

Company believes will not be resolved in its favor; the Company is actively working on obtaining any necessary permits and expects

that all required permits will be received within the next two to five years; and senior management has approved the project. Units-of-

production amortization rates are determined annually for each of the Company's operating landfills. The rates are based on estimates

provided by the Company's engineers and accounting personnel and reflect the information provided by surveys, which are performed at

least annually.

(i) Intangible Assets 

Covenants not to compete and customer lists are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, typically no

more than 10 years. (See Note 7.) 

Goodwill is the cost in excess of fair value of identifiable assets of acquired businesses and has been amortized through April 30,

2002 using the straight-line method over periods not exceeding 40 years. In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business

Combinations and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001.

These standards modified the accounting rules related to accounting for business acquisitions, amortization of intangible assets and the

method of accounting for impairment. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives will no longer

be amortized but will be subject to annual impairment tests. Other intangible assets will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. 

Asset Classification ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE

Buildings and improvements 10-35 years
Machinery and equipment 2-15 years 
Rolling stock 1-12 years
Containers 2-12 years
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As a result of the factors discussed in Note 18, during 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $79,687 to reduce certain assets (mainly

goodwill arising from the acquisition of KTI, see Note 4), to their estimated fair value. 

(j) Investments in Unconsolidated Entities 

The Company entered into an agreement in July 2000 with Louisiana-Pacific to combine their respective cellulose insulation businesses into a

single operating entity, US GreenFiber LLC ("GreenFiber") under a joint venture agreement effective August 1, 2000. The Company contributed the

operating assets of its cellulose insulation manufacturing business together with $1,000 in cash. There was no gain or loss recognized on this

transaction. The Company's investment in GreenFiber amounted to $21,672 and $23,746 at April 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively. The Company

accounts for its 50% ownership in GreenFiber under the equity method of accounting. 

A portion of the Company's 50% interest in New Heights was sold in September 2001 for consideration of $250. The Company retained an

interest of 9.95% in the tire assets of New Heights, as well as financial obligations related solely to the New Heights power plant. In addition, the

Company has an interest in certain notes issued by New Heights collectively valued at approximately $9,000, payment of which is contingent upon

certain events. The Company will record the contingent consideration when the contingency is removed. The Company's investment in the power

assets of New Heights amounted to $2,113 and $2,586 at April 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively. The Company accounts for this investment

under the cost method of accounting. 

The Company had received a promissory note and other consideration from Oakhurst Company, Inc. ("OCI") in connection with the

Company's acquisition of OCI's 37.5% interest in New Heights on July 3, 2001. The Company estimated the realizable value at $0. The Company

reached a settlement with OCI in April, 2003 and received $1,220 which is included in other (income)/expense. 

The Company sold 80.1% of Recovery Technologies Group, Inc. ("RTG") in September, 2001 as part of the sale of the tire processing

business. The Company retained a 19.9% indirect interest in the RTG tire collection and processing business which is valued at $3,080 at April 30,

2002 and 2003. The Company's interest is subject to dilution as a result of advances made by the owner of the balance of the interest in RTG,

against no advances made by the Company. The Company accounts for this investment under the cost method of accounting. 

In April, 2003, the Company acquired a 9.9% interest in Evergreen National Indemnity Company ("Evergreen") for total consideration of

$5,329. The Company accounts for its investment in Evergreen under the cost method of accounting. 

(k) Income Taxes 

The Company records income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under SFAS No. 109, deferred income taxes

are recognized based on the expected future tax consequences of differences between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of assets

and liabilities, calculated using currently enacted tax rates. 

(l) Accrued Closure and Post-Closure Costs 

Accrued closure and post-closure costs include the current and non-current portion of accruals associated with obligations for closure and 

post-closure of the Company's operating and closed landfills. The Company, based on input from its engineers, accounting personnel and

consultants, estimates its future cost requirements for closure and post-closure monitoring and maintenance for solid waste landfills based on its

interpretation of the technical standards of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Subtitle D regulations and the air emissions standards

under the Clean Air Act as they are being applied on a state-by-state basis. Closure and post-closure monitoring and maintenance costs represent

the costs related to cash expenditures yet to be incurred when a landfill facility ceases to accept waste and closes. 

Accruals for closure and post-closure monitoring and maintenance requirements consider final capping of the site, site inspection,

groundwater monitoring, leachate management, methane gas control and recovery, and operation and maintenance costs to be incurred during the

period after the facility closes. Certain of these environmental costs, principally capping and methane gas control costs, are also incurred during

the operating life of the site in accordance with the landfill operation requirements of Subtitle D and the air emissions standards. Reviews of the

future cost requirements for closure and post-closure monitoring and maintenance for the Company's operating landfills by the Company's

engineers, accounting personnel and consultants are performed at least annually and are the basis upon which the Company's estimates of these

future costs and the related accrual rates are revised. The Company provides accruals for these estimated costs as the remaining permitted

airspace of such facilities is consumed. 

The Company operates in states which require a certain portion of landfill closure and post-closure obligations to be secured by financial

assurance, which may take the form of restricted cash, surety bonds and letters of credit. Surety bonds securing closure and post-closure

obligations at April 30, 2002 and 2003 totaled $13,654 and $25,705, respectively. 

(m) Comprehensive (Loss) Income 

Comprehensive (loss) income is defined as the change in net assets of a business enterprise during a period from transactions generated from

non-owner sources. It includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to
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owners. Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income included in the accompanying balance sheets consists of unrealized gains and

losses on the Company's available for sale securities, change in the fair value of the Company's interest rate swap and commodity hedge

agreements as well as the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle due to the adoption of SFAS No. 133, Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (See Note 1(p)). 

(n) Earnings per Share 

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the

period. Diluted earnings per share is based on the combined weighted average number of common shares and potentially dilutive shares,

which include, where appropriate, the assumed exercise of employee stock options and the conversion of convertible debt and convertible

preferred stock. In computing diluted earnings per share, the Company utilizes the treasury stock method with regard to employee stock

options and the "if converted" method with regard to its convertible debt and preferred stock. 

(o)  Stock Based Compensation Plans 

The Company has elected to account for its stock-based compensation plans under APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees, for which no compensation expense is recorded in the statements of operations for the estimated fair value of stock options

issued with an exercise price equal to the fair value of the underlying common stock on the grant date.

During fiscal 1996, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, which defines a fair value based

method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and encourages all entities to adopt that method of accounting for all of

their employee stock compensation plans. However, it also allows an entity to continue to measure compensation costs for those plans

using the intrinsic method of accounting prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25. Entities electing to remain with the accounting in APB

Opinion No. 25 must make pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair value based method of accounting

defined in SFAS No. 123 had been applied. In addition, the Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148,

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, the Company has computed, for pro forma disclosure purposes, the value of

all options granted during the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model as prescribed by SFAS No.

123, using the following weighted average assumptions for grants in the fiscal years ended 2001, 2002 and 2003. 

The total value of options granted during the years ended April 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003 would be amortized on a pro forma basis

over the vesting period of the options. Options generally vest over a one to three year period. If the Company had accounted for these

plans in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company's net (loss) income and net (loss) income per share would have changed as

reflected in the following pro forma amounts: 

April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Risk free interest rate 4.85%–6.76% 4.03%–5.05% 2.57%–4.50%
Expected dividend yield N/A N/A N/A
Expected life 7 Years 5 Years 5 Years
Expected volatility 84.20% 65.00% 65.00%

Fiscal Year 2001 2002 2003

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders, as reported $ (103,505) $ 4,471 $ (62,902)
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under

fair value based method, net (13,089) (3,804) (1,507)
Pro forma, net (loss) income $ (116,594) $ 667 $ (64,409)
Basic (loss) income per common share:

As reported $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.65)
Pro forma $ (5.03) $ 0.03 $ (2.72)

Diluted (loss) income per common share:
As reported $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.63)
Pro forma $ (5.03) $ 0.03 $ (2.70)

10K2003(9x12.5).qxd  9/29/03  10:39 AM  Page 70



2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 K

71

(p) Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, on May 1, 2001. SFAS No. 133

establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that every derivative instrument (including certain derivative instruments

embedded in other contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value. SFAS No. 133

requires that changes in the derivative's fair value be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.

The Company's objective for utilizing derivative instruments is to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in cash flows due to changes in the

variable interest rates under its credit facility and changes in the commodity prices of recycled paper. 

The Company's strategy to hedge against fluctuations in variable interest rates involves entering into interest rate swaps that are

specifically designated to existing interest payments under the credit facility and accounted for as cash flow hedges pursuant to SFAS

No. 133. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 133, the Company recorded the ineffective portion of the interest rate hedges in place at the time

of adoption amounting to $250 (net of taxes of $170) as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle in fiscal year 2002. 

At April 30, 2002 the Company had in place six interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges with a fair value of $8,225,

with the net amount (net of taxes of $3,312) recorded as an unrealized loss in other comprehensive income (loss). Due to the

Company's refinancing of its debt, the early termination costs associated with the unwind of these swaps amounted to $1,296 which is

included in other expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended April 30, 2003. At April 30, 2003 the

Company has two interest rate swaps outstanding, expiring in February, 2004, with an aggregate notional amount of $53,000. The

Company has evaluated these swaps and believes these instruments qualify for hedge accounting pursuant to SFAS No. 133. The fair

value of these swaps was an obligation of $551, with the net amount (net of taxes of $223) recorded as an unrealized loss in other

comprehensive income (loss). The estimated net amount of the existing losses as of April 30, 2003 included in accumulated other

comprehensive income expected to be reclassified into earnings as payments are either made or received under the terms of the

interest rate swaps within the next 12 months is approximately $195. The actual amounts reclassified into earnings are dependent on

future movements in interest rates.

The Company's strategy to hedge against fluctuations in the commodity prices of recycled paper is to enter into hedges to mitigate

the variability in cash flows generated from the sales of recycled paper at floating prices, resulting in a fixed price being received from

these sales. The Company has entered into 12 commodity hedges, which expire at various times between August 2003 and November

2005. The Company has evaluated these hedges and believes that these instruments qualify for hedge accounting pursuant to SFAS 

No. 133. As of April 30, 2003, the fair value of these hedges was an obligation of $515, with the net amount (net of taxes of $197)

recorded as an unrealized loss in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). 

On December 2, 2001, Enron Corporation (Enron), the counterparty for all of the Company's commodity hedges as of that date, filed

for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. As a result of the filing, the Company executed the early termination provisions provided under the

forward contracts, and filed a claim with the bankruptcy court. Additionally, the Company agreed with its equity method investee,

GreenFiber, to include GreenFiber in its claim (as allowed under the applicable affiliate provisions). The Company recorded a charge of

$1,688 in fiscal 2002 in other expense to recognize the change in fair value of these commodity contracts. Subsequent changes in the

fair value of these commodity contracts were reflected in earnings until their March 2003 termination. The Company has no remaining

exposure related to its claims against Enron. 

(q) New Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS No. 143 applies to all legally

enforceable obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. For the Company, this standard primarily impacts

accounting for landfill operations, specifically capping, closure and post-closure costs. SFAS No. 143 requires entities to record the fair

value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the entity

capitalizes the cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The liability is accreted to its present value each

period and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, the entity either

settles the obligation for the amount recorded or incurs a gain or loss. SFAS No. 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,

2002. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 143 beginning May 1, 2003. The adoption of this standard will have no impact on cash flow. 

SFAS No. 143 does not change the basic accounting principles that the Company has historically followed for accounting for these

types of obligations. In general, the Company has followed the practice of life cycle accounting which recognizes a liability on the balance

sheet and related expense as airspace is consumed at the landfill, in order to match operating costs with revenues. 
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The primary modification to the Company's methodology required by SFAS No. 143 is to require closure and post-closure costs to

be discounted to present value. The Company's estimates of future closure and post-closure costs historically have not taken into

account discounts for the present value of costs to be paid in the future. Under SFAS No. 143, the Company's estimates of costs to

discharge asset retirement obligations for landfills are developed in today's dollars. These costs are then inflated each year to reflect a

normal escalation of prices up to the year they are expected to be paid. These estimated costs are then discounted to their present value

using a credit adjusted risk-free rate. 

Under SFAS No. 143, the Company will no longer accrue landfill retirement obligations through a charge to cost of operations, but

rather by an increase to landfill assets. Under SFAS No. 143, the amortizable landfill assets include not only the landfill development

costs incurred but also the recorded capping, closure and post-closure liabilities as well as the cost estimates for future capping, closure

and post-closure costs. The landfill asset is amortized over the total capacity of the landfill, as airspace is consumed during the life of the

landfill with one exception. The exception is for final capping for which both the recognition of the liability and the amortization of these

costs are based instead on the airspace consumed for the specific capping event. 

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 143 on May 1, 2003, the Company expects to record a cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle of $2,700 (net of taxes of $1,900). 

Following is a summary of the expected balance sheet changes for landfill assets and capping, closure and post closure liabilities at

May 1, 2003 (in thousands): 

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No., 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No.

13, and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145, among other things, restricts the classification of gains and losses from extinguishment of

debt as extraordinary such that most debt extinguishment gains and losses will no longer be classified as extraordinary. SFAS No. 145 is

effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. Upon adoption, gains and losses on future debt extinguishment, if any, will be

recorded in pre-tax income. During fiscal year 2003, the Company recorded an extraordinary loss of $2,170 (net of income tax benefit of

$1,479) in connection with the write-off of deferred financing costs related to the old term loan and the old revolver. This item will be

reclassified to continuing operations in fiscal 2004. 

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146

addresses costs such as restructuring, involuntary termination of employees and consolidating facilities but excludes from its scope exit

and disposal activities that are in connection with a business combination and those activities to which SFAS No. 143 and No. 144 are

applicable. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit and disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. Management is evaluating

the effect of this statement on the Company's results of operations and financial position as well as related disclosures. The Company

has not engaged in or initiated any exit or disposal activities since December 31, 2002. 

In December, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an

amendment of FAS 123. This statement amends FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide

alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee

compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both

annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the

method used in reporting results. SFAS No. 148 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has included

the required disclosures in these financial statements. Management is evaluating the effect of this statement on the Company's results of

operations and financial position as well as related disclosures. 

BALANCE AT BALANCE AT
APRIL 30, MAY 1,

2003 CHANGE 2003

Landfill assets $ 148,029 $ 6,166 $ 154,195
Accumulated amortization (63,207) (9,394) (72,601)

Net landfill assets $ 84,822 $ (3,228) $ 81,594

Capping, closure, and post-closure liability $ 25,949 $ (7,855) $ 18,094
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In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of APB No. 51

("FIN 46"). FIN 46 requires that unconsolidated variable interest entities be consolidated by their primary beneficiary who absorbs a

majority of the entities expected losses or residual benefits. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January

31, 2003 and to existing variable interest entities in the periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Management is evaluating the effect of

this statement on the Company's results of operations and financial position as well as related disclosures. 

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liability and

Equity. The statement changes the accounting for certain financial instruments that, under previous guidance, issuers could account for as

equity. The new statement requires that those instruments be classified as liabilities in statements of financial position. SFAS No. 150 is

effective for all financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first

interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. Management is evaluating the effect of the statement on the Company's results of

operations and financial positions as well as related disclosures. 

(r) Concentrations of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited because a large number of geographically diverse customers

comprise the Company's customer base, thus spreading the trade credit risk. For the years ended April 30, 2002 and 2003, no single

group or customer represents greater than 2.0% of total accounts receivable. The Company controls credit risk through credit

evaluations, credit limits, and monitoring procedures. The Company performs credit evaluations for commercial and industrial customers

and performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers, but generally does not require collateral to support accounts receivable. Credit

risk related to derivative instruments results from the fact the Company enters into interest rate and commodity price swap agreements

with various counterparties. However, the Company monitors its derivative positions by regularly evaluating positions and the credit

worthiness of the counterparties. 

2 .  RECLASSIF ICATIONS
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation. 

3 .  ADOPTION OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(a) SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. These

new standards significantly modified the accounting rules related to accounting for business acquisitions, amortization of intangible assets

and the method of accounting for impairments of existing goodwill. The effective date for SFAS No. 142 was fiscal years beginning after

December 15, 2001. 

SFAS No. 142, among other things, eliminates the amortization of goodwill and requires an annual assessment of goodwill

impairment by applying a fair value based test. SFAS No. 142 requires that any goodwill recorded in connection with an acquisition

consummated on or after July 1, 2001 not be amortized. The Company performed an impairment test as of May 1, 2002 and goodwill

was determined to be impaired and the amount of $63,916 (net of tax benefit of $189) was charged to earnings as a cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle. The goodwill impairment is associated with the assets acquired by the Company in connection with its

acquisition of KTI. Remaining goodwill will be tested for impairment on an annual basis and further impairment charges may result. In

accordance with the non-amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142, remaining goodwill will not be amortized going forward. The following

schedule reflects net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share for fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 adjusted to exclude goodwill

amortization and impairment charges. 
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Fiscal Year 2001 2002 2003

Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued operations,
extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ (93,558) $ 10,687 $ 6,228

Discontinued Operations:
Loss from discontinued operations, net (4,130) — —
Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net (2,657) (4,096) —
Reclassification from discontinued operations, net (1,190) 1,140 50

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net — (250) (63,916)

Reported net income (loss) before extraordinary loss (101,535) 7,481 (57,638)
Add:

Goodwill impairment charge (net of income taxes of $189) — — 63,916
Goodwill amortization (net of income taxes of $1,759 and $2,143) 6,254 4,956 —

Adjusted net income (loss) before extraordinary loss (95,281) 12,437 6,278
Less:

Preferred stock dividends 1,970 3,010 3,094

Adjusted net income (loss) available to common shareholders before
extraordinary loss (97,251) 9,427 3,184

Extraordinary loss—early extinguishment of debt, net — — (2,170)

Adjusted net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ (97,251) $ 9,427 $ 1,014

Earnings per common share before extraordinary loss:
Basic earnings per common share:
Adjusted net income (loss) available to common shareholders before

extraordinary loss $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.56)
Goodwill impairment charge, net — — 2.69
Goodwill amortization, net 0.27 0.21 —

Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders $ (4.19) $ 0.40 $ 0.13

Diluted earnings per common share:
Adjusted net income (loss) available to common shareholders before

extraordinary loss $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.54)
Goodwill impairment charge, net — — 2.67
Goodwill amortization, net 0.27 0.21 —

Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders $ (4.19) $ 0.40 $ 0.13

Earnings per common share:
Basic earnings per common share:
Reported net (loss) income available to common stockholders $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.65)

Goodwill impairment charge, net — — 2.69
Goodwill amortization, net 0.27 0.21 —

Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders $ (4.19) $ 0.40 $ 0.04

Diluted earnings per common share:
Reported net (loss) income available to common stockholders $ (4.46) $ 0.19 $ (2.63)

Goodwill impairment charge, net — — 2.67
Goodwill amortization, net 0.27 0.21 —

Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders $ (4.19) $ 0.40 $ 0.04
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(b) SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets

The Company adopted SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets as of May 1, 2002. Among other

things, this standard requires that the assets and liabilities of a disposal group held for sale (including those of discontinued operations)

be presented separately in the asset and liability sections, respectively, of the balance sheet. The standard also requires reclassification of

such items in prior periods if such financial statements are presented for comparative purposes. 

(c) FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of

Indebtedness of Others

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including

Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others ("FIN 45"). FIN 45 clarifies the requirement of FASB No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies,

relating to a guarantor's accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance of certain types of guarantees. It requires a guarantor to recognize, at

the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition and initial

measurement provisions of FIN 45 are effective on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The

Company has no guarantees as of April 30, 2003, but will record the fair value of future material guarantees, if any. 

4 .  BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On December 14, 1999, the Company consummated its acquisition of KTI, a publicly traded solid waste handling company. KTI

specializes in solid waste disposal and recycling, and operates manufacturing facilities utilizing recycled materials. All of KTI's common

stock was acquired in exchange for 7,152,157 shares of Class A Common Stock. 

In addition to the above, the Company also acquired 13, four and eight solid waste hauling, landfill disposal or material recycling

operations in fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, in transactions accounted for as purchases. Accordingly, the operating

results of these businesses are included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations from the dates of acquisition, and

the purchase prices have been allocated to the net assets acquired based on fair values at the dates of acquisition, with the residual

amounts allocated to goodwill. Management does not believe the final purchase price allocation will produce materially different results

than reflected herein. 

The purchase prices allocated to those net assets acquired were as follows: 

The following unaudited pro forma combined information shows the results of the Company's operations for the fiscal years 2002 and

2003 as though each of the acquisitions completed in the fiscal years 2002 and 2003 had occurred as of May 1, 2001. 

The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the actual results of

operations had the acquisitions taken place or the results of future operations of the Company. Furthermore, the pro forma results do not

give effect to all cost savings or incremental costs that may occur as a result of the integration and consolidation of the completed

acquisitions. 

April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Current assets $ 644 $ 60 $ 525
Property, plant and equipment 2,671 5,821 21,025
Goodwill 18,568 1,380 5,253
Intangible assets 701 116 953
Current liabilities (4) — (1,160)
Other non-current liabilities — — (5,660)

Total consideration $ 22,580 $ 7,377 $ 20,936

Fiscal Year 2002 2003

Revenues $ 438,688 $ 435,387
Operating income (loss) $ 41,306 $ 34,988
Net (loss) income available to common stockholders $ 4,555 $ (62,922)
Diluted pro forma net (loss) income per common share $ 0.19 $ (2.63)
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 24,169 23,904
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5.  RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash consists of cash held in trust on deposit with various banks as collateral for the Company's financial obligations relative to

its self-insurance claims liability as well as landfill closure and post-closure costs and other facilities' closure costs. Cash is also restricted

by specific agreement for facilities' maintenance and other purposes. 

A summary of restricted cash is as follows: 

6 .  PROPERTY,  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment at April 30, 2002 and 2003 consist of the following: 

Depreciation expense for the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 was $35,461, $32,397 and $33,042, respectively. Landfill

amortization expense for the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 was $7,897, $10,333 and $13,257. 

7 .  INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets at April 30, 2002 and 2003 consist of the following: 

Intangible amortization expense for the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 was $10,053, $7,982 and $1,631, respectively. 

8 .  NET ASSETS UNDER CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATION
Effective September 30, 2002, the Company transferred its export brokerage operations to former employees, who had been responsible

for managing that business. Consideration for the transaction was in the form of two notes receivable amounting to $5,460. These notes

are payable within five years of the anniversary date of the transaction to the extent of free cash flow generated from the operations. The

Company has not accounted for this transaction as a sale based on an assessment that the risks and other incidents of ownership have

not sufficiently transferred to the buyer. The net assets of the operation are disclosed in the balance sheet as "net assets under

contractual obligation", and will be reduced as payments are made. 

April 30, 2002 2003

Land $ 10,290 $ 10,499
Landfills 115,505 148,029
Buildings and improvements 51,717 53,369
Machinery and equipment 147,840 155,784
Rolling stock 84,922 94,345
Containers 40,488 41,983

450,762 504,009
Less—Accumulated depreciation and amortization 163,556 201,681

$ 287,206 $ 302,328

April 30, 2002 2003

Goodwill $ 240,099 $ 177,704
Covenants not to compete 14,447 14,963
Customer lists 428 688

254,974 193,355
Less: accumulated amortization 31,331 30,659

$ 223,643 $ 162,696

April 30, 2002 2003

Short Long Short Long
Term Term Total Term Term Total

Insurance $ 10,144 $ — $ 10,144 $ 10,715 $ — $ 10,715
Landfill closure 91 2 93 73 — 73
Facility maintenance and operations 50 — 50 51 — 51
Other 1 — 1 — — —

Total $ 10,286 $ 2 $ 10,288 $ 10,839 $ — $ 10,839
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9.  ACCRUED CLOSURE AND POST CLOSURE
Accrued closure and post-closure costs include the current and non-current portion of costs associated with obligations for closure and

post-closure of our landfills. We estimate our future closure and post-closure costs in order to determine the closure and post-closure

expense per ton of waste placed into each landfill as further described in Note 1(1) to the consolidated financial statements. The

anticipated timeframe for paying these costs varies based on the remaining useful life of each landfill, as well as the duration of the 

post-closure monitoring period. The changes to accrued closure and post-closure liabilities are as follows: 

(1) Spending levels increased in fiscal year 2003 mainly due to closure activities at our Woburn, Massachusetts and Pine Tree, Maine landfills. 

(2) In fiscal year 2002, we recorded additional post-closure accruals relating to one of our construction and demolition landfills. In fiscal year 2003, we

recorded closure and post closure accruals relating to the Hardwick landfill acquisition.

10.  OTHER ACCRUED L IABIL IT IES
Other accrued liabilities at April 30, 2002 and 2003 consist of the following: 

11.  LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt as of April 30, 2002 and 2003 consists of the following: 

April 30, 2002 2003

Advances on senior secured revolving credit facility (the ‘‘old revolver’’) which provided for advances 
of up to $280,000, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.50%, collateralized by substantially all of the assets
of the Company $ 156,800 $ —

Advances on senior secured delayed draw term ‘‘B’’ Loan (the ‘‘old term loan’’) bearing interest at LIBOR
plus 3.75%. This loan was collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company 119,300 —

Senior subordinated notes, due February 1, 2013, 9.75%, interest payable semiannually, unsecured and 
unconditionally guaranteed — 150,000

Senior secured term loan (the ‘‘new term loan’’) due January 24, 2010, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 
3.25% (approximately 4.56% at April 30, 2003 based on three month LIBOR), with principal payments 
of $1,500 per year, beginning in fiscal 2004 with the remaining principal balance due at maturity. This loan
is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company — 150,000

Senior secured revolving credit facility (the ‘‘new revolver’’), which provides for advances of up to $175,000, 
due January 24, 2008, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 3.00%, (approximately 4.31% at April 30, 2003 
based on three month LIBOR). This loan is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company — —

Notes payable in connection with businesses acquired, bearing interest at rates of 0% — 12.5%, due in 
monthly, quarterly or annual installments varying to $42, expiring March 2004 through May 2009 1,797 2,460

Subordinated, convertible notes payable in connection with business acquired, bearing interest at 7.5%, 
due in monthly installments varying to $48, expiring on March 15, 2003. 2,419 —

Notes payable in connection with businesses acquired, bearing interest at 0%, discounted at 4.74% to 5.5%, 
due in monthly and annual installments varying to $1,000 through April 2005 3,665 4,463

283,981 306,923
Less—Current maturities 6,436 4,534

$ 277,545 $ 302,389

Years Ended April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Balance, beginning of year $ 12,276 $ 17,230 $ 24,772
Charged to operating expense 5,917 6,665 8,400
Spending applied against the accrual (1) (675) (408) (9,164)
Acquisitions, divestitures and other adjustments (2) (288) 1,285 1,941

Balance, end of year $ 17,230 $ 24,772 $ 25,949
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On January 24, 2003, the Company issued $150,000 of 9.75% senior subordinated notes (the "notes"), due 2013. The senior

subordinated note agreement contains covenants that restrict dividends, stock repurchases and other payments, and limits the incurrence

of debt and issuance of preferred stock subject to the Company meeting a minimum consolidated fixed charge ratio. The notes are

guaranteed jointly and severally, fully and unconditionally by the Company and its significant subsidiaries. 

On February 11, 2003, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Commission

relating to an exchange offer pursuant to which senior subordinated notes (the "exchange notes") identical in terms and in principal

amount to the notes issued on January 24, 2003 (the "old notes") would be issued in exchange for the old notes. The exchange notes,

when issued, would be freely transferable under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Securities and Exchange Commission is

reviewing the registration statement. Following the effectiveness of the registration statement, the Company will conduct an exchange

offer whereby each holder of the old notes would be given an opportunity to exchange the old notes held by it for exchange notes which

are equal in principal amount to the old notes surrendered. Because the registration statement was not declared effective by the

Securities and Exchange Commission by July 23, 2003, the Company is incurring liquidated damages until the registration statement is

declared effective. 

Concurrently with the issuance of the notes, the Company entered into a new senior credit facility consisting of the new term loan in

the aggregate principal amount of $150,000 and the new revolver in the aggregate principal amount of $175,000. The Company, under

certain circumstances, has the option of increasing the new term loan or the new revolver by an additional $50,000. The gross proceeds

of the notes offering and initial borrowings under the Company's new term loan were used to repay all outstanding indebtedness under

the old term loan and the old revolver. 

Further advances were available under the old revolver and new revolver in the amount of $83,276 and $141,586 as of April 30,

2002 and 2003, respectively. These available amounts are net of outstanding irrevocable letters of credit totaling $39,923 and $33,414 as

of April 30, 2002 and 2003. As of April 30, 2002 and 2003 no amounts had been drawn under the outstanding letters of credit. 

The new term loan and revolving credit facility agreement contains covenants that may limit our activities, including covenants that

restrict dividends and stock repurchases, limit capital expenditures, and set minimum net worth and profitability requirements and interest

coverage and leverage ratios. As of April 30, 2003, we considered the profitability covenant, which requires our cumulative adjusted net

income for any two consecutive quarters to be positive, to be the most restrictive. As of April 30, 2003, we were in compliance with this

covenant as we reported consolidated adjusted net income of $1.5 million for the six months ended April 30, 2003. Consolidated adjusted

net income is defined by the credit facility agreement. In accordance with such definition, consolidated net income, determined in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, is adjusted for elimination of certain nonrecurring charges, extraordinary gains,

income from discontinued operations and non-cash income attributable to equity investments. 

The Company recorded an extraordinary loss of $2,170 (net of income tax benefit of $1,479) as a result of the write-off of deferred

financing costs related to the old term loan and the old revolver. 

The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements to balance fixed and floating rate debt interest risk in accordance with

management's criteria. The agreements are contracts to exchange fixed and floating interest rate payments periodically over a specified

term without the exchange of the underlying notional amounts. The agreements provide only for the exchange of interest on the notional

amounts at the stated rates, with no multipliers or leverage. Differences paid or received over the life of the agreements are recorded in

the consolidated financial statements as additions to or reductions of interest expense on the underlying debt. 

The Company terminated five interest rate swaps concurrent with the issuance of the notes and entering into its new senior credit

facility. These derivatives were accounted for as cash flow hedges pursuant to SFAS 133 and were designated to interest payments

under the previous credit facility. At April 30, 2002, the fair value of these swaps was $8,225. The early termination costs associated with

the unwind of these swaps amounted to $1,296 which is included in other expense/(income), net in the consolidated statements of

operations. The Company entered into new interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges for the new senior credit facility. As of

April 30, 2003, interest rate swap agreements in notional amounts and with terms as set forth in the following table were outstanding: 

The fair value of the swaps is estimated at a loss of $551 as of April 30, 2003.

BANK NOTIONAL AMOUNTS RECEIVE PAY RANGE OF AGREEMENT

Bank A $ 26,500 LIBOR 2.434% February 2003 to February 2006
Bank B $ 26,500 LIBOR 2.450% February 2003 to February 2006

10K2003(9x12.5).qxd  9/29/03  10:39 AM  Page 78



2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 K

79

As of April 30, 2003, debt matures as follows:

12.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(a) Leases 

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments under

capital leases, as of April 30, 2003. 

The Company leases real estate, compactors and hauling vehicles under leases that qualify for treatment as capital leases. The

assets related to these leases have been capitalized and are included in property and equipment at April 30, 2002 and 2003. 

The Company leases operating facilities and equipment under operating leases with monthly payments varying to $47. 

Total rent expense under operating leases charged to operations was $3,087, $5,787 and $4,955 for each of the fiscal years 2001,

2002 and 2003, respectively. 

(b) Investment in Waste to Energy Facilities

The Company owns a 100% interest in Maine Energy, which utilizes non-hazardous solid waste as the fuel for the generation of electricity.

Maine Energy sells the electricity it produces to Central Maine Power ("Central Maine") pursuant to a long-term power purchase

agreement. Under this agreement, Maine Energy has agreed to sell energy to Central Maine through May 31, 2007 at an initial rate of

7.18 cents (determined in 1996) per kilowatt-hour ("kWh"), which escalates annually by 2% (8.53 cents per kWh as of April 30, 2003).

From June 1, 2007 until December 31, 2012, Maine Energy is to be paid the then current market value for both its energy and capacity

by Central Maine. 

If, in any year, Maine Energy fails to produce 100,000,000 kWh of electricity and Maine Energy does not have a force majeure

defense, such as physical damage to the plant or other similar events, Maine Energy must pay approximately $3,750 to Central Maine as

liquidated damages. This payment obligation is secured by a letter of credit with a bank. Additionally, if, in any year, Maine Energy fails to

produce 15,000,000 kWh of electricity and Maine Energy does not have a force majeure defense, Maine Energy must pay the balance of

the letter of credit to Central Maine as liquidated damages. The balance of the letter of credit at April 30, 2003 was $18,750. 

Maine Energy produced and sold 158,075,200 kWh, 159,006,000 kWh and 153,547,000 kWh of electricity to Central Maine in the

fiscal years ended April 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, thereby meeting its kWh requirements under the power purchase

agreement. 

Under the terms of a waste handling agreement between certain municipalities and Maine Energy, the latter is obligated to make a

payment at the point in time that Maine Energy pays off its debt obligations (as defined), currently estimated to occur in 2008, or upon

Fiscal Year OPERATING CAPITAL
LEASES LEASES

2004 $ 3,965 $1,488
2005 3,556 739
2006 3,313 503
2007 2,849 539
2008 2,212 494
Thereafter 4,261 41
Total Minimum Lease Payments $ 20,156 3,804
Less—amount representing interest 548

3,256
Less—current maturities of capital lease obligations 1,287
Present value of long term capital lease obligations $ 1,969

Fiscal Year

2004 $ 4,534
2005 4,482
2006 1,809
2007 1,717
2008 1,555
Thereafter 292,826

$ 306,923
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the consummation of an outright sale of Maine Energy. The obligation has been estimated by management at $9,700. Management

believes the possibility of material loss in excess of this amount is remote. 

Additionally, from December 1999 until July 31, 2001, the Company owned 100% of Timber Energy Resources, Inc. ("Timber

Energy"). Timber Energy uses biomass waste as its source of fuel to be combusted for the generation of electricity. Timber Energy also

operates two wood processing facilities. Timber Energy sells the electricity that it generates to Florida Power Corporation ("Florida

Power"), a local electric utility, under a power purchase agreement. Under the terms of the power purchase agreement, Florida Power has

agreed to purchase all of the electricity generated by Timber Energy. Timber Energy was sold effective July 31, 2001. 

(c) Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of its business and as a result of the extensive governmental regulation of the waste industry, the Company may

periodically become subject to various judicial and administrative proceedings involving Federal, state or local agencies. In these

proceedings, an agency may seek to impose fines on the Company or to revoke, or to deny renewal of, an operating permit held by the

Company. In addition, the Company may become party to various claims and suits pending for alleged damages to persons and property,

alleged violation of certain laws and for alleged liabilities arising out of matters occurring during the normal operation of the waste

management business. 

During fiscal year 2002, the Company settled four lawsuits all of which had been previously provided for, thus having no effect on the

Company's financial position. 

In July 1996, Clinton County, New York entered into a privatization agreement with Casella for Casella to run the County's solid

waste management system (the "System") as a private enterprise, including operations at both the existing unlined landfill, as well as

newly constructed lined landfill areas. During the period of November 21, 1996 to October 9, 1997, we performed certain closure

activities and installed a cut-off wall at the unlined portion of the landfill. On or about April 1999, the New York State Department of Labor

alleged that we should have paid prevailing wages in connection with the labor associated with such activities related to the unlined

landfill. The DOL is attempting to apply the prevailing wage provisions of Labor Law-220 to Casella's construction  activities at the unlined

portion of the Clinton County landfill, to include (1) cap construction at the unlined landfill; (2) construction of the "Casella Barrier Wall,"

which the New York State Department of Environment Conservation (the "DEC") required as a precondition to permitting the Phase III

expansion of the Lined Landfill; and (3) construction of the "County Barrier Wall," which the DEC required as a corrective measure to

control the historical contamination. We have disputed the allegations and a hearing on only the liability issue was held on September 16,

2002. Since the hearing did not address damages, relevant payroll documents have not been fully reviewed by either party. Accordingly,

neither side is in a position to estimate wage amounts that might be payable in the event the hearing officer finds that Casella is liable for

the payment of such prevailing wages. In addition, any such estimate will differ depending on whether any liability ruling applies to some or

all of the activities described above; and whether it would apply only to activities of Casella or to all subcontractors as well. In November

2002, both sides submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. The hearing officer is expected to make a recommendation

to the Department of Labor commissioner during the summer of 2003 on the liability issue. We continue to explore settlement

possibilities with the State. We believe that we have meritorious defenses to these claims. Although a loss as a result of these claims is

reasonably possible, we cannot estimate a range of reasonably possible losses at this time. 

The Company is a defendant in certain other lawsuits alleging various claims incurred in the ordinary course of business, none of which,

either individually or in the aggregate, the Company believes are material to its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

(d)  Environmental Liability

The Company is subject to liability for any environmental damage, including personal injury and property damage, that its solid waste,

recycling and power generation facilities may cause to neighboring property owners, particularly as a result of the contamination of

drinking water sources or soil, possibly including damage resulting from conditions existing before the Company acquired the facilities.

The Company may also be subject to liability for similar claims arising from off-site environmental contamination caused by pollutants or

hazardous substances if the Company or its predecessors arrange to transport, treat or dispose of those materials. Any substantial

liability incurred by the Company arising from environmental damage could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,

financial condition and results of operations. The Company is not presently aware of any situations that it expects would have a material

adverse impact on the results of operations or financial condition.

(e) Employment Contracts

The Company has entered into employment contracts with four of its senior officers. Two contracts are dated December 8, 1999, while

the other two are dated June 18, 2001 and July 20, 2001, respectively. Each contract has a three-year term and a two-year covenant not
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to compete from the date of termination. These contracts automatically extend for a one year period at the end of the initial term and any

renewal period. Total annual commitments for salaries under these contracts are $1,085. In the event of a change in control of the

Company, or in the event of involuntary termination without cause, the employment contracts provide for a payment ranging from one to

three years of salary and bonuses.

13.  PREFERRED STOCK
The Company is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series. As of April 30, 2002 and 2003, the

Company had 55,750 shares authorized, issued and outstanding of Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock issued at $1,000

per share. These shares are convertible into Class A common stock, at the option of the holders, at $14 per share. Dividends are

cumulative at a rate of 5%, compounded quarterly. The Company has the option to redeem the preferred stock for cash at any time after

three years at a price giving the holder a defined yield, but must redeem the shares by the seventh anniversary date at liquidation value,

which equals original cost, plus accrued but unpaid dividends, if any. Pursuant to the stock agreement, acceleration of the liquidation

provisions would occur upon change in control of the Company. 

During the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Company accrued $1,970, $3,010 and $3,094 of dividends, respectively, which are

included in the carrying value of the preferred stock in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

14.  STOCKHOLDERS'  EQUITY
(a) Common Stock 

The holders of the Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held. The holders of the Class B Common Stock are

entitled to ten votes for each share held, except for the election of one director, who is elected by the holders of the Class A Common

Stock exclusively. The Class B Common Stock is convertible into Class A Common Stock on a share-for-share basis at the option of the

shareholder. 

(b) Stock Warrants

At April 30, 2002 and 2003, there were outstanding warrants to purchase 227,530 and 122,498 shares, respectively, of the Company's

Class A Common Stock at exercise prices between $0.01 and $43.63 per share, based on the fair value of the underlying common stock

at the time of the warrants' issuance. The warrants are exercisable and expire at varying times through November 2008. 

(c)  Stock Option Plans 

During 1993, the Company adopted an incentive stock option plan for officers and other key employees. The 1993 Incentive Stock

Option Plan (the "1993 Option Plan") provided for the issuance of a maximum of 300,000 shares of Class A Common Stock. As of April

30, 2002 and 2003, options to purchase 15,000 shares of Class A common stock were outstanding at a weighted average exercise price

of $4.61. No further options may be granted under this plan. 

During 1994, the Company adopted a non-statutory stock option plan for officers and other key employees. The 1994 Stock Option

Plan (the "1994 Option Plan") provided for the issuance of a maximum of 150,000 shares of Class A Common Stock. As of April 30,

2002 and 2003, options to purchase 15,000 shares of Class A common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $0.60 were

outstanding under the 1994 Option Plan. No further options may be granted under this plan. 

In May 1994, the Company also established a nonqualified stock option pool for certain key employees. The plan, which was not

approved by stockholders, established 338,000 stock options to purchase Class A common stock. As of April 30, 2002, options to

purchase 264,000 shares of Class A Common stock were outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $2.00. As of April 30,

2003, options to purchase 255,000 shares of Class A common stock were outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $2.00.

No further options may be granted under this plan. 

During 1996, the Company adopted a stock option plan for employees, officers and directors of, and consultants and advisors to the

Company. The 1996 Stock Option Plan (the "1996 Option Plan") provided for the issuance of a maximum of 918,135 shares of Class A

Common Stock pursuant to the grant of either incentive stock options or non-statutory options. As of April 30, 2002, a total of 320,238

options to purchase Class A Common Stock were outstanding at a weighted average exercise price of $11.76. As of April 30, 2003, a

total of 299,531 options to purchase Class A common Stock were outstanding at an average exercise price of $11.89. No further

options may be granted under this plan. 

On July 31, 1997, the Company adopted a stock option plan for employees, officers and directors of, and consultants and advisors

to the Company. The Board of Directors has the authority to select the optionees and determine the terms of the options granted. The

1997 Stock Option Plan (the "1997 Option Plan") provides for the issuance of 5,328,135 shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to
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the grant of either incentive stock options or non-statutory options, which includes all authorized, but unissued options under previous

plans. As of April 30, 2002, options to purchase 3,404,628 shares of Class A Common Stock at an average exercise price of $13.81

were outstanding under the 1997 Option Plan. As of April 30, 2003, options to purchase 3,547,628 shares of Class A Common Stock at

a weighted average exercise price of $13.58 were outstanding under the 1997 Option Plan. As of April 30, 2003, 614,475 options were

available for future grant under the 1997 Option Plan. 

Additionally, options outstanding under the assumed KTI Stock Option Plan totaled 123,992 and 81,586 at April 30, 2002 and 2003,

respectively, at weighted average exercise prices of $23.18 and $22.42, respectively. Upon assumption of this plan, entitled optionees

under the KTI plan received one option to acquire one share of the Company's stock for every option held. The exercise price of the

converted options was increased by 96.1% based on relative fair values of the underlying stock at the date of the KTI acquisition. 

On July 31, 1997, the Company adopted a stock option plan for non-employee directors of the Company. The 1997 Non-Employee

Director Stock Option Plan provides for the issuance of a maximum of 200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the grant

of non-statutory options. As of April 30, 2002 and 2003, options to purchase 94,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at a weighted

average exercise price of $14.12 and 139,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at a weighted average exercise price of $11.36,

respectively, were outstanding. As of April 30, 2003, 57,000 options were available for future grant under the 1997 Non-Employee

Director Stock Option Plan. 

On July 2, 2001, the Company offered its employees, other than executive officers, the opportunity to ask the Company to exchange

options having an exercise price of $12.00 or more per share. For every two eligible options surrendered, the participating option holders

received one new option on February 4, 2002 at an exercise price of $12.75, which was equal to the closing price of a common share as

quoted by NASDAQ on that day. 666,315 options were surrendered for exchange under the offering resulting in 333,158 options being

granted to participants. 

Options generally vest over a one to three year period from the date of grant and are granted at prices at least equal to the prevailing

fair market value at the issue date. In general, options are issued with a life not to exceed ten years. 

Stock option activity for the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 is as follows: 

NUMBER OF OPTIONS WEIGHTED AVERAGE
EXERCISE PRICE

Outstanding, April 30, 2000 3,916,740 19.78
Granted 1,929,060 9.26
Terminated (433,148) (24.62)
Exercised (3,000) (8.69)

Outstanding, April 30, 2001 5,409,652 15.65
Granted 710,565 13.09
Surrendered under Exchange Program (666,315) (27.77)
Terminated (802,009) (20.56)
Exercised (415,035) (7.87)

Outstanding, April 30, 2002 4,236,858 13.09
Granted 225,000 8.30
Terminated (83,406) (19.06)
Exercised (25,707) (5.28)

Outstanding, April 30, 2003 4,352,745 $ 12.77

Exercisable, April 30, 2001 4,071,188 $ 16.44

Exercisable, April 30, 2002 3,811,775 $ 13.27

Exercisable, April 30, 2003 3,982,129 $ 13.06
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Set forth below is a summary of options outstanding and exercisable as of April 30, 2003: 

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 is $7.28, $7.06 and $8.30,

respectively. 

15.  RESTRUCTURING
In April 2001, the Company's Board of Directors approved a reorganization of certain of the Company's operations. This

reorganization consisted of the elimination of various positions and the closure of certain facilities. The following items were charged

to earnings during 2001: 

Severance related to the termination of 19 employees, primarily in management and administration, as well as three officers of the

Company. Facility closures include the costs of closing two transfer stations. 

During fiscal year 2002, the reversal of various prior year restructuring expenses netted with fiscal year 2002 restructuring charges

of $254, amounted to ($438). 

During fiscal year 2003, $37 was charged against the accrual. The remaining balance included in other accrued liabilities in the

accompanying April 30, 2003 balance sheet amounts to $0. 

16.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Company offers its eligible employees the opportunity to contribute to a 401(k) plan. The Company may contribute up to 500 dollars

per individual per calendar year. Participants vest in employer contributions ratably over a three-year period. Employer contributions for

the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 amounted to $434, $406 and $368, respectively. 

In January 1998, the Company implemented its Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Under this plan, qualified employees may purchase

shares of Class A Common Stock by payroll deduction at a 15% discount from the market price. 600,000 shares of Class A Common

Stock have been reserved for this purpose. During the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, 29,287, 30,904 and 27,633 shares,

respectively, of Class A Common Stock were issued under this plan. 

17.  INCOME TAXES
The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations for the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 consists of the following: 

April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Federal—
Current $ (1,036) $ (1,639) $ 22
Deferred (9,029) 8,458 448
Deferred benefit of loss carryforwards (5,721) (4,049) 1,970

(15,786) 2,770 2,440
State—

Current (829) 565 871
Deferred (2,686) 2,803 1,884
Deferred benefit of loss carryforwards (1,142) (1,027) 97

(4,657) 2,341 2,852
Total $ (20,443) $ 5,111 $ 5,292

Severance $ 3,786
Facility closures 365

$ 4,151

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

Number of Weighted Average Number of
Outstanding Remaining Contractual Weighted Average Exercisable Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Price Options Life (years) Exercise Price Options  Exercise Price

$ .60—$ 2.00 270,000 1.1 $ 1.92 270,000 $ 1.92
$ 4.61—$ 8.69 1,384,420 5.8 8.24 1,214,253 8.33
$ 9.56—$ 18.00 2,077,313 6.1 13.43 1,876,864 13.64
$ 18.01—$ 27.00 400,310 5.6 22.66 400,310 22.66
Over $ 27.00 220,702 1.0 30.33 220,702 30.33
Totals 4,352,745 5.4 $ 12.77 3,982,129 $ 13.06
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The differences in the provision (benefit) for income taxes and the amounts determined by applying the Federal statutory rate to income

before provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended April 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are as follows: 

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities recognized for

financial reporting purposes and such amounts recognized for income tax purposes. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at April 30, 2002 and 2003: 

At April 30, 2003, the Company has for income tax purposes Federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $108,146

that expire in years 2005 through 2023 and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $91,887 that expire in years 2004

through 2023. Substantial limitations restrict the Company's ability to utilize certain Federal and state loss carryforwards. Due to

uncertainty of the utilization of the carryforwards, no tax benefit has been recognized for approximately $49,457 of the Federal net

operating loss carryforwards and $79,923 of the state net operating loss carryforwards. In addition, the Company has approximately $672

minimum tax credit carryforward available that is not subject to limitation. 

The $3,816 net decrease in the valuation allowance is due to the decrease in the basis difference for the investment in New Heights,

the elimination of the capital loss carryforward, and the expiration of certain state loss carryforwards, partially offset by an increased

valuation allowance for Federal and state loss carryforwards. 

Fiscal Year 2001 2002 2003

Federal statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
Tax at statutory rate $ (39,900) $ 5,529 4,032
State income taxes, net of federal benefit (3,027) 1,523 1,847
Non-deductible impairment charge 12,825 — 568
Non-deductible goodwil 1,155 1,052 —
Losses on business dispositions — (2,072) 849
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 6,390 (390) —
Decrease in valuation allowance — — (3,173)
Other, net 2,114 (531) 1,169

$ (20,443) $ 5,111 $ 5,292

April 30, 2002 2003

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses and reserves $ 14,291 $ 11,243
Basis difference in partnership interests 5,532 —
Amortization of intangibles 8,833 102
Unrealized loss on securities 3,727 19
Gain on business dispositions — 757
Capital loss carryforward 1,900 —
Net operating loss carryforwards 38,672 45,385
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 672 672
Other 1,534 1,422

Total deferred tax assets 75,161 59,600
Less: valuation allowance (28,512) (24,696)
Total deferred tax assets after valuation allowance 46,649 34,904

Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation of property and equipment (35,676) (33,181)
Basis difference in partnership interests — (1,487)
Other (1,558) (1,434)

Total deferred tax liabilities (37,234) (36,102)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ 9,415 $ (1,198)
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The valuation allowance includes $15,556 related to losses acquired through acquisitions. To the extent that future realization of such

carryforwards exceeds the Company's current estimates, additional benefits received will be recorded as a reduction of goodwill. In

assessing the realizability of carryforwards and other deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that

some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company adjusts the valuation allowance in the period

management determines it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will or will not be realized. 

18.  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, ASSETS HELD FOR SALE,  DIVESTITURES,  IMPAIRMENT

CHARGE AND EXTRAORDINARY ITEM

Discontinued Operations: 

At the end of fiscal year 2001, the Company adopted a formal plan to dispose of its tire processing, commercial recycling and mulch

recycling businesses (herein "discontinued businesses"). The Company is accounting for these planned dispositions in accordance with

APB Opinion No. 30, and accordingly the discontinued businesses are carried at estimated net realizable value less costs to be incurred

through date of disposition. 

For the fiscal year 2001, the estimated loss on the disposal of the discontinued operations of $2,657, net of income tax benefit of

$274, represents the estimated loss on the disposal of the assets of the discontinued operations and includes costs to sell, estimated

loss on sale and a provision for losses during the phase-out period. 

A summary of the operating results of the discontinued operations is as follows: 

The Company has included approximately $9,911 of intercompany sales of recyclables from the commercial recycling business to the

brokerage business in loss on discontinued operations for the fiscal year 2001. Intercompany sales of recyclables from the commercial

recycling business to the brokerage business amounted to $1,323 and $0 for fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively. 

The mulch recycling business was sold effective June 30, 2001. The Company's tire processing business was sold in September

2001 for cash consideration of $13,745. The Company retained a 19.9% interest in the new venture, which was valued at $3,080. The

Company is accounting for its retained investment under the cost method. The commercial recycling center in Newark, New Jersey was

sold effective April 18, 2002. 

Actual operating results of discontinued businesses for the fiscal year 2002 exceeded the original estimate by $599 (net of income

tax provision of $408), and the actual loss on the sale of assets exceeded the estimate by $4,695 (net of income tax benefit of $565).

Accordingly, the accompanying income statement for the year ended April 30, 2002 includes an additional loss on disposal of

discontinued operations of $4,096. 

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company entered into negotiations with former employees for the transfer of its domestic

brokerage operations and a commercial recycling business. The transaction was completed in June 2003. The commercial recycling

business had been accounted for as a discontinued operation since fiscal 2001. Due to the nature of the transaction, the Company could

not retain discontinued accounting treatment for this operation. Therefore, the commercial recycling business' operating results have been

reclassified from discontinued to continuing operations for fiscal 2001, 2002 and 2003. In fiscal 2001, estimated future losses from this

operation were recorded and classified as losses from discontinued operations. This amount has been reclassified and offset against

actual losses from operations in fiscal 2001, 2002 and 2003. 

Net Assets Held for Sale

The Company had identified for sale certain other businesses which were classified as net assets held for sale as of April 30, 2001.

These included its Timber Energy business and its one remaining plastics recycling facility. 

On May 17, 2001, the plastics recycling business was sold for approximately $998 in total consideration. The consideration

consisted of $406 in cash and $592 in notes. 

Fiscal Year 2001

Revenues $ 30,047
(Loss) income before income taxes (5,199)
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (1,069)
Net (Loss) income from discontinued operations $ (4,130)
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On July 31, 2001, the Timber Energy business was sold for approximately $15,000 in total consideration. The consideration

comprised the buyer's assumption of debt, reimbursement of restricted cash funds, and a working capital adjustment, resulting in

$10,691 cash. 

As discussed above, in June 2003, the Company transferred a commercial recycling business to former employees. The net assets

of the commercial recycling business were $(306) and $(1,280) as of April 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively. 

Other Divestitures

A portion of the Company's 50% interest in New Heights was sold in September 2001 for consideration of $250. The Company retained

an interest of 9.95% in the tire assets of New Heights as well as financial obligations related solely to the New Heights' power plant. At

April 30, 2001, the Company included $4,000, as its estimate of its future costs to be incurred at New Heights; as of April 30, 2003,

$2,400 has been invested in New Heights. In addition, the Company has an interest in certain notes granted by New Heights collectively

valued at approximately $9,000, payment of which is contingent upon settlement of litigation concerning the cancellation of a fixed price

power contract. The Company has not recorded a receivable in respect of these notes, as the timing of such settlement is uncertain; a

favorable summary judgment has been received but final court appeal resolution is not likely until fiscal year 2004. The Company is

accounting for its retained investment under the cost method of accounting. 

In October, 2001, the Company sold its Multitrade division for consideration of $6,893. The transaction resulted in a gain of $4,156

which is included in other (income)/expense, net. 

In July, 2001, the Company sold its S&S Commercial division for consideration of $887. The transaction resulted in a gain of $692

which is included in other (income)/expense, net. 

In April 2003, the Company sold its FCR Virginia division for consideration of $875. The transaction resulted in a gain of $684 which

is included in other (income)/expense, net. 

Impairment Charge

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 142, and in accordance with SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for

Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of", the Company periodically reviewed its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the remaining estimated useful life of such assets might warrant revision or that the balance may

not be recoverable. The Company evaluated possible impairment by comparing estimated future cash flows, before interest expense

and on an undiscounted basis, with the net book value of long-term assets including goodwill and other intangible assets. If

undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover assets, further analysis is performed in order to determine the amount of the

impairment. An impairment loss was then recorded equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their fair

value. Fair value is usually determined based on the present value of estimated expected future cash flows using a discount rate

commensurate with the risks involved. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 142, and in instances where goodwill is identified with assets that

are subject to an impairment loss, the carrying amount of the identified goodwill is reduced before making any reduction to the carrying

amounts of other long-lived assets.

As a result of the factors discussed above, during 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $79,687 to reduce certain assets

(mainly goodwill arising from the acquisition of KTI, see Note 4), to their estimated fair value. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the

Company recorded an impairment charge of $4,864 to adjust the book value of the the domestic brokerage and commercial recycling

business to net realizable value. 

Extraordinary Loss

During fiscal year 2003, the Company recorded an extraordinary loss of $2,170 (net of income tax benefit of $1,479) in connection with

the write-off of deferred financing costs related to the old term loan and the old revolver. This item will be reclassified to continuing

operations upon adoption of SFAS No. 145. 
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19.  EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the numerator and denominator used in the computation of earnings per share: 

For the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, 5,389, 6,653 and 8,408, respectively, of potentially dilutive common stock related to

options, convertible debt, warrants and redeemable convertible preferred stock, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of

dilutive shares since the inclusion of such shares would be anti-dilutive. 

20.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Services 

During fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Company retained the services of a related party, a company wholly owned by two of the

Company's major stockholders and members of the Board of Directors (one of whom is also an officer), as a contractor in developing or

closing certain landfills owned by the Company. Total purchased services charged to operations or capitalized to landfills for the fiscal

years 2001, 2002 and 2003 were $3,870, $2,559 and $1,525, respectively, of which $0 and $28 were outstanding and included in

accounts payable at April 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively. 

(b) Leases 

On August 1, 1993, the Company entered into two leases for operating facilities with a partnership in which two of the Company's major

stockholders and members of the Board of Directors (one of whom is also an officer) are the general partners. The leases are classified

as capital leases in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The leases call for monthly payments of approximately $21 and

expired in April 2003. The leases were renewed effective May 1, 2003 for a term of 60 months. Total interest and depreciation expense

charged to operations for fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 under these agreements was $236, $204 and $196, respectively. 

(c) Post-closure Landfill 

The Company has agreed to pay the cost of post-closure on a landfill owned by certain principal shareholders. The Company paid the

cost of closing this landfill in 1992, and the post-closure maintenance obligations are expected to last until 2012. In the fiscal years 2001,

2002 and 2003, the Company paid $7, $6 and $8 respectively, pursuant to this agreement. As of April 30, 2002 and 2003, the Company

has accrued $83 and $75 respectively, for costs associated with its post-closure obligations. 

Fiscal Year 2001 2002 2003

Numerator:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued

operations, extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle $ (93,558) $ 10,687 $ 6,228
Less: preferred dividends (1,970) (3,010) (3,094)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued
operations, extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle available to common stockholders $ (95,528) $ 7,677 $ 3,134

Denominator:
Number of shares outstanding, end of period:

Class A common stock 22,198 22,667 22,769
Class B common stock 988 988 988
Effect of weighted average shares outstanding during period 3 (159) (41)

Weighted average number of common shares used in basic EPS 23,189 23,496 23,716

Impact of potentially dilutive securities:
Dilutive effect of options, warrants and contingent stock — 673 188

Weighted average number of common shares used in diluted EPS 23,189 24,169 23,904
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(d) Transfer Station Lease 

In June 1994, the Company entered into a transfer station lease for a term of 10 years. The transfer station is owned by a current member

of the Company's Board of Directors, who became a director upon the execution of the lease. Under the terms of the lease the Company

agreed to pay monthly rent for the first five years at a rate of five dollars per ton of waste disposed of at the transfer station, with a

minimum rent of $7 per month. Since June 1999, the monthly rent was lowered to a rate of two dollars per ton of waste disposed, with a

minimum rent of $3 per month. Total lease payments for the fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 were $55, $64 and $55, respectively. 

(e) Employee Loans 

As of April 30, 2002 and 2003, the Company has recourse loans to officers and employees outstanding in the amount of $1,105. The

interest on these notes is payable upon demand by the company. The notes have no fixed repayment terms. Interest is at the Wall Street

Journal Prime Rate (4.25% at April 30, 2003). Notes from officers consisted of $1,016 at April 30, 2002 and 2003 with the remainder

being from employees of the Company. 

(f) Commodity Sales

The Company sells recycled paper products to its equity method investee, GreenFiber. Revenue from sales to GreenFiber amounted to

$2,303 and $3,375 for fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively. 

21.  SEGMENT REPORTING
SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, establishes standards for reporting information about

operating segments in financial statements. In general, SFAS No. 131 requires that business entities report selected information about

operating segments in a manner consistent with that used for internal management reporting. 

The Company classifies its operations into Eastern, Central, Western and FCR Recycling. The Company's revenues in the Eastern,

Central and Western segments are derived mainly from one industry segment, which includes the collection, transfer, recycling and

disposal of non-hazardous solid waste. The Eastern Region also includes Maine Energy, which generates electricity from non-hazardous

solid waste. The Company's revenues in the FCR Recycling and brokerage segment are derived from integrated waste handling services,

including processing and recycling of wood, paper, metals, aluminum, plastics and glass and brokerage of recycled materials. Ancillary

operations, mainly residue recycling, major customer accounts and earnings from equity method investees, are included in Other. 
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Year Ended April 30, 2001 EASTERN CENTRAL WESTERN 
REGION REGION REGION RECYCLING OTHER

Outside revenues $ 158,754 $ 99,305 $ 66,473 $ 109,453 $ 46,381
Inter-segment revenues 38,267 40,498 14,995 36,473 1,273
Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

discontinued operations, extraordinary loss and 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (3,876) 3,706 4,152 (49,780) (36,443)

Depreciation & amortization 20,349 14,330 9,855 3,955 4,394
Impairment charge 1,948 7,765 49 69,932 —
Interest expense (net) 10,346 3,564 4,321 6,930 13,493
Capital expenditures 25,843 20,545 16,445 7,750 (9,065)
Goodwill 116,176 24,567 49,601 42,428 (6,803)
Total assets $ 283,967 $ 126,617 $ 112,882 $ 80,984 $ 81,843

ELIMINATIONS TOTAL
Year Ended April 30, 2001

Outside revenues $ — $ 480,366
Inter-segment revenues (131,506) —
Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

discontinued operations, extraordinary loss and 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — (82,241)

Depreciation & amortization — 52,883
Impairment charge — 79,694
Interest expense (net) — 38,654
Capital expenditures — 61,518
Goodwill — 225,969
Total assets $ — $ 686,293
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Year Ended April 30, 2003 EASTERN CENTRAL WESTERN 
REGION REGION REGION RECYCLING OTHER

Outside revenues $ 153,318 $ 90,524 $ 68,451 $ 94,326 $ 14,244
Inter-segment revenues 39,444 43,253 13,740 22,577 1
Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

discontinued operations, extraordinary loss and 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (6,342) 19,118 2,577 (4,331) (4,794)

Depreciation & amortization 22,706 11,531 8,204 3,426 2,063
Interest expense (net) 10,097 (204) 6,811 10,451 (901)
Capital expenditures 16,200 9,734 9,874 4,900 1,217
Goodwill 56,734 25,485 49,847 27,616 —
Total assets $ 239,023 $ 107,694 $ 110,045 $ 64,989 $ 80,890

ELIMINATIONS TOTAL
Year Ended April 30, 2003

Outside revenues $ — $ 420,863
Inter-segment revenues (119,015) —
Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

discontinued operations, extraordinary loss and 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — 6,228

Depreciation & amortization — 47,930
Interest expense (net) — 26,254
Capital expenditures — 41,925
Goodwil — 159,682
Total assets $ — $ 602,641

Year Ended April 30, 2002 EASTERN CENTRAL WESTERN 
REGION REGION REGION RECYCLING OTHER

Outside revenues $ 152,095 $ 91,935 $ 65,628 $ 94,117 $ 17,460
Inter-segment revenues 31,889 43,777 14,626 18,338 58
Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

discontinued operations,extraordinary loss and 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 1,525 19,163 1,125 (10,417) (708)

Depreciation & amortization 21,140 12,758 10,192 4,121 2,501
Interest expense (net) 9,247 2,559 7,434 10,044 1,289
Capital expenditures 15,850 11,856 6,490 2,573 905
Goodwill 108,517 25,212 48,576 37,433 (9)
Total assets $ 270,854 $ 109,673 $ 104,479 $ 69,531 $ 67,074

ELIMINATIONS TOTAL
Year Ended April 30, 2002

Outside revenues $ — $ 421,235
Inter-segment revenues (108,688) —
Income (loss) from continuing operations before 

discontinued operations, extraordinary loss and 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — 10,688

Depreciation & amortization — 50,712
Interest expense (net) — 30,573
Capital expenditures — 37,674
Goodwill — 219,729
Total assets $ — $ 621,611
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Fiscal Year 2001 2002 2003

Collection $ 205,561 $ 196,863 $ 196,478
Landfill/disposal facilities 78,261 57,449 59,942
Transfer 36,908 45,597 47,478
Recycling 57,795 65,508 80,237
Brokerage 70,721 50,125 36,728
Other (1) 31,120 5,693 —
Reported revenues $ 480,366 $ 421,235 $ 420,863

Fiscal Year 2002 FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH
QUARTER (1) QUARTER (1) QUARTER (1) QUARTER (1)

Revenues $ 112,447 $ 109,888 $ 101,286 $ 97,614
Operating income 11,017 12,097 7,684 9,014
Income from continuing operations before discontinued operations, 

extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 1,936 5,779 113 2,859
Net (loss) income available to common stockholders 1,474 3,789 (732) (60)
Income per common share:
Basic:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued 

operations, extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle 0.06 0.22 (0.02) 0.06

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders 0.06 0.16 (0.03) —
Diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued 

operations, extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle 0.06 0.22 (0.02) 0.06

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders 0.06 0.16 (0.03) —

FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH
QUARTER (1)(2) QUARTER (1) QUARTER (1) QUARTER

Fiscal Year 2003
Revenues $ 116,031 $ 114,570 $ 95,801 $ 94,461
Operating income 11,467 13,708 8,525 250
Income from continuing operations before discontinued

operations, extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle 2,557 4,714 1,348 (2,391)

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders (62,071) 3,860 (1,561) (3,130)
Income per common share:
Basic:
Income from continuing operations before discontinued operations, 

extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle 0.08 0.17 0.02 (0.13)

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders (2.62) 0.16 (0.07) (0.13)
Diluted:
Income from continuing operations before discontinued operations, 

extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle 0.08 0.16 0.02 (0.13)

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders (2.62) 0.16 (0.07) (0.13)

Amounts of our total revenue attributable to services provided are as follows: 

(1) Other revenues consist of revenues from entities divested during fiscal 2001 and 2002, including a plastics business, Timber Energy, Multitrade and

U.S. Fiber, which was contributed to the U.S. GreenFiber joint venture. 

22.  QUARTERLY F INANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
The following is a summary of certain items in the Consolidated Statements of Operations by quarter for fiscal years 2002 and 2003.
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(1) In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company entered into negotiations with former employees for the transfer of the Company's domestic

brokerage operations and a commercial recycling business and in June 2003, the Company completed the transaction. The commercial recycling

business had been accounted for as a discontinued operation since fiscal 2001. Due to the nature of the transaction, the Company could not retain

discontinued accounting treatment for this operation. Therefore, the commercial recycling operating results have been reclassified from discontinued to

continuing operations for fiscal years 2001, 2002 and 2003 and the above quarterly summary data has been revised from amounts previously reported. 

(2) The Company revised results for the first quarter of fiscal 2003 to include additional goodwill impairment in the amount of $1.1 million, net of taxes,

relating to our waste-to-energy operations, Maine Energy. The Company previously reported goodwill impairment upon the adoption of SFAS 142 in the

amount of $62.8 million, net of taxes. 

23.  CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING F INANCIAL INFORMATION

The senior subordinated notes are guaranteed jointly and severally, fully and unconditionally by the Company's significant wholly-owned

subsidiaries. The Parent is the issuer and non-guarantor of the senior subordinated notes. The information which follows presents the

condensed consolidating financial position as of April 30, 2002 and 2003; the condensed consolidating results of operations for the years

ended April 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003; and the condensed consolidating statements of cash flows for the years ended April 30, 2001,

2002 and 2003 of (a) the parent company only ("the Parent"), (b) the combined guarantors ("the Guarantors"), each of which is 100%

wholly-owned by the Parent, (c) the combined non-guarantors ("the Non-Guarantors"), (d) eliminating entries and (e) the Company on a

consolidated basis. 
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of April 30, 2002 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,362 $ (2,377) $ 2,313 $ — $ 4,298
Restricted cash — (196) 10,482 — 10,286
Accounts receivable—

trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 924 41,643 427 75 43,069
Notes receivable — officers/employees 1,105 — — — 1,105
Prepaid expenses 487 2,645 — — 3,132
Other current assets 8,795 6,227 404 — 15,426

Total current assets 15,673 47,942 13,626 75 77,316

Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation and amortization 4,449 277,312 5,445 — 287,206

Intangible assets, net — 223,643 — — 223,643
Deferred income taxes 648 — — — 648
Investment in subsidiaries 14,797 — — (14,797) —
Other non-current assets 8,956 30,073 (552) (5,679) 32,798

28,850 531,028 4,893 (20,476) 544,295
Intercompany receivable 487,191 (491,256) (1,539) 5,604 —

$ 531,714 $ 87,714 $ 16,980 $ (14,797) $ 621,611

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable 1,260 23,009 (115) — 24,154
Accrued payroll and related expenses 455 5,342 — — 5,797
Accrued interest 1,473 8 — — 1,481
Accrued closure and post-closure costs, 

current portion — 6,465 — — 6,465
Liabilities of operations held for sale — — — — —
Other current liabilities 15,362 12,841 7,553 — 35,756

Total current liabilities 18,550 47,665 7,438 — 73,653

Long-term debt, less current maturities 274,850 1,183 1,512 — 277,545
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 788 2,263 — — 3,051
Other long-term liabilities — 28,530 1,306 — 29,836

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Series A redeemable, convertible preferred stock, 

55,750 shares authorized, issued and outstanding, 
liquidation preference of $1,000 per share plus accrued
but unpaid dividends 60,730 — — — 60,730

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Class A common stock—

Authorized—100,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value 
issued and outstanding—22,667,000 shares 227 105 102 (207) 227

Class B common stock—
Authorized—1,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value 

10 votes per share, issued and outstanding—
988,000 shares 10 — — — 10

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,250) 1 — (1) (4,250)
Additional paid-in capital 272,697 54,313 5,669 (59,982) 272,697
Accumulated deficit (91,888) (46,346) 953 45,393 (91,888)

Total stockholders’ equity 176,796 8,073 6,724 (14,797) 176,796
$ 531,714 $ 87,714 $ 16,980 $ (14,797) $ 621,611
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet as of April 30, 2002 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,188 $ 2,686 $ 778 $ — $ 15,652
Accounts receivable—trade, net of allowance for

doubtful accounts 485 44,155 1,009 — 45,649
Prepaid expenses 613 5,138 155 — 5,906
Inventory — 1,740 — — 1,740
Deferred taxes 3,504 — 771 — 4,275
Other current assets 1,237 1,103 10,715 — 13,055

Total current assets 18,027 54,822 13,428 — 86,277
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated

depreciation and amortization 2,996 294,109 5,223 — 302,328
Intangible assets, net — 162,696 — — 162,696
Deferred income taxes — — — — —
Investment in subsidiaries (43,783) — — 43,783 —
Investments in unconsolidated entities 7,778 31,341 — (4,379) 34,740
Assets under contractual obligation — 3,844 — — 3,844
Other non-current assets 11,046 1,238 472 — 12,756

(21,963) 493,228 5,695 39,404 516,364
Intercompany receivable 507,820 (509,887) (2,312) 4,379 —

$ 503,884 $ 38,163 $ 16,811 $ 43,783 $ 602,641

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current maturities of long term debt 1,500 1,777 1,257 — 4,534
Accounts payable 1,350 32,285 108 — 33,743
Accrued payroll and related expenses 1,368 6,015 — — 7,383
Accrued interest 5,373 2 — — 5,375
Accrued closure and post-closure costs, current portion . — 2,286 676 — 2,962
Other current liabilities 7,203 5,617 8,655 — 21,475

Total current liabilities 16,794 47,982 10,696 — 75,472

Long-term debt, less current maturities 298,500 2,318 1,571 — 302,389
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 141 1,828 — — 1,969
Accrued closure and post closure costs,

less current portion — 21,977 1,010 — 22,987
Minority interest — — — — —
Deferred income taxes 5,473 — — — 5,473
Other long-term liabilities — 10,047 1,328 — 11,375

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Series A redeemable, convertible preferred stock,55,750 shares 

authorized, issued and outstanding,liquidation preference of
$1,000 per share plus accrued but unpaid dividends 63,824 — — — 63,824

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Class A common stock—
Authorized—100,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value

issued and outstanding—22,769,000 shares 228 101 100 (201) 228
Class B common stock—
Authorized—1,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value 10

votes per share, issued and outstanding—988,000 shares 10 — — — 10
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 542 1,190 — (1,190) 542
Additional paid-in capital 270,068 47,885 2,825 (50,710) 270,068
Accumulated deficit (151,696) (95,165) (719) 95,884 (151,696)
Total stockholders’ equity 119,152 (45,989) 2,206 43,783 119,152

$ 503,884 $ 38,163 $ 16,811 $ 43,783 $ 602,641
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2001 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

Revenues $ — $ 478,159 $ 9,637 $ (7,430) $ 480,366
Operating expenses:

Cost of operations 128 319,394 9,074 (7,382) 321,214
General and administration 5,535 57,703 889 (48) 64,079
Depreciation and amortization 1,632 51,397 382 — 53,411
Impairment charge — 79,262 425 — 79,687
Restructuring charge 3,613 538 — — 4,151
Legal settlements — 4,209 — — 4,209
Other miscellaneous charges — 1,604 — — 1,604

10,908 514,107 10,770 (7,430) 528,355
Operating loss (10,908) (35,948) (1,133) — (47,989)

Other expense/(income), net:
Interest income (32,554) (3,207) (369) 33,156 (2,974)
Interest expense 37,675 37,009 100 (33,156) 41,628
Loss (income) from equity method investments, net 105,729 26,256 — (105,729) 26,256
Minority interest — 953 73 — 1,026
Other expense/(income), net 1,054 (1,110) 132 — 76

Other expense/(income), net 111,904 59,901 (64) (105,729) 66,012
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

income taxes and discontinued operations (122,812) (95,849) (1,069) 105,729 (114,001)
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (21,277) 829 5 — (20,443)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

discontinued operations (101,535) (96,678) (1,074) 105,729 (93,558)
Loss from discontinued operations, net — (4,130) — — (4,130)
Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued

operations, net — (2,657) — — (2,657)
Reclassification from discontinued operations, net — (1,190) — — (1,190)
Net income (loss) (101,535) (104,655) (1,074) 105,729 (101,535)
Preferred stock dividend 1,970 — — — 1,970
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ (103,505) $ (104,655) $ (1,074) $ 105,729 $ (103,505)
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2002 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

Revenues $ — $ 418,500 $ 12,232 $ (9,497) $ 421,235
Operating expenses:

Cost of operations 4,057 273,651 8,482 (9,497) 276,693
General and administration (333) 54,145 644 — 54,456
Depreciation and amortization 1,765 48,503 444 — 50,712
Restructuring charge (438) — — — (438)

5,051 376,299 9,570 (9,497) 381,423
Operating income (5,051) 42,201 2,662 — 39,812
Other expense/(income), net:

Interest income (29,858) (1,896) (254) 31,104 (904)
Interest expense 31,183 31,363 9 (31,104) 31,451
(Income) loss from equity method investments (19,390) (1,899) — 19,390 (1,899)
Minority interest — — (154) — (154)
Other expense/(income), net 1,239 (6,249) 530 — (4,480)

Other expense, net (16,826) 21,319 131 19,390 24,014
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

income taxes, discontinued operations and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 11,775 20,882 2,531 (19,390) 15,798

Provision for income taxes 4,044 — 1,067 — 5,111
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

discontinued operations and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle 7,731 20,882 1,464 (19,390) 10,687

Estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net — (4,096) — — (4,096)
Reclassification from discontinued operations, net — 1,140 — — 1,140
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net (250) — — — (250)
Net income (loss) 7,481 17,926 1,464 (19,390) 7,481
Preferred stock dividend . 3,010 — — — 3,010

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 4,471 $ 17,926 $ 1,464 $ (19,390) $ 4,471
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2003 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

Revenues $ — $ 416,777 $ 13,949 $ (9,863) $ 420,863
Operating expenses:

Cost of operations (926) 275,747 13,389 (9,863) 278,347
General and administration (3) 55,227 548 — 55,772
Depreciation and amortization 1,812 43,849 2,269 — 47,930
Impairment charge 400 4,464 — — 4,864

1,283 379,287 16,206 (9,863) 386,913
Operating income (1,283) 37,490 (2,257) — 33,950
Other expense/(income), net:

Interest income (27,864) (3,398) (160) 31,104 (318)
Interest expense 26,826 30,450 400 (31,104) 26,572
(Income) loss from equity method investments 50,277 (2,073) — (50,277) (2,073)
Minority interest — — (152) — (152)
Other expense/(income), net 1,420 (2,536) (483) — (1,599)

Other expense, net 50,659 22,443 (395) (50,277) 22,430
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

income taxes, discontinued operations, extraordinary
loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle (51,942) 15,047 (1,862) 50,277 11,520

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 5,696 — (404) — 5,292

Income (loss) from continuing operations before
discontinued operations, extraordinary loss and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (57,638) 15,047 (1,458) 50,277 6,228

Reclassification from discontinued operations, net — 50 — — 50
Extraordinary loss, net (2,170) — — — (2,170)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net — (63,916) — — (63,916)
Net income (loss) (59,808) (48,819) (1,458) 50,277 (59,808)
Preferred stock dividend 3,094 — — — 3,094

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ (62,902) $ (48,819) $ (1,458) $ 50,277 $ (62,902)
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Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2001 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities (27,717) 91,394 (1,960) 1,544 63,261

Cash Flows from Investing Activities —
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (9,331) — — (9,331)
Proceeds from divestitures, net of cash divested — 15,814 15,814
Additions to property, plant and equipment (3,626) (58,583) 691 — (61,518)
Proceeds from sale of equipment — 2,298 — — 2,298
Proceeds from sale of Bangor Hydro warrants 6,718 — 6,718
Advances to unconsolidated entities — (9,546) — — (9,546)

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Investing Activities 3,092 (59,348) 691 — (55,565)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 48,694 896 — — 49,590
Principal payments on long-term debt (34,597) (52,734) — — (87,331)
Proceeds from the issuance of series A

redeemable, convertible preferred stock, net 54,741 — — — 54,741
Intercompany borrowings (34,192) 35,513 223 (1,544) —
Other 259 1,506 1,765

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities 34,905 (14,819) 223 (1,544) 18,765
Cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations 3,016 (15,264) — — (12,248)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 13,296 1,963 (1,046) — 14,213

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period (449) 6,579 1,658 — 7,788

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 12,847 $ 8,542 $ 612 $ — $ 22,001

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2002 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities $ (10,523) $ 77,115 $ (401) $ 1,496 $ 67,687

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Proceeds from divestitures, net of cash divested 31,216 31,216
Additions to property, plant and equipment (647) (36,986) (41) — (37,674)
Other 3,530 (1,578) (5,027) — (3,075)

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Investing Activities 2,883 (7,348) (5,068) — (9,533)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 70,984 — 2,400 — 73,384
Principal payments on long-term debt (141,103) (5,710) (196) — (147,009)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 3,560 — — — 3,560
Intercompany borrowings 64,955 (68,425) 4,966 (1,496) —

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Financing Activities (1,604) (74,135) 7,170 (1,496) (70,065)
Cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations 759 (6,551) — — (5,792)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash
equivalents (8,485) (10,919) 1,701 — (17,703)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 12,847 8,542 612 — 22,001

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 4,362 $ (2,377) $ 2,313 $ — $ 4,298

10K2003(9x12.5).qxd  9/29/03  10:39 AM  Page 97



C A S E L L A  W A S T E  S Y S T E M S 98

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries   
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2003 (In thousands)

Assets NON-
PARENT GUARANTORS GUARANTORS ELIMINATION CONSOLIDATED

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 3,861 61,782 $ 2,534 $ (3,225) $ 64,952

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (18,068) (18,068)
Additions to property, plant and equipment (369) (39,509) (2,047) — (41,925)
Other (5,329) 4,114 — — (1,215)

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (5,698) (53,463) (2,047) — (61,208)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 376,737 2,541 1,243 — 380,521
Principal payments on long-term debt (354,558) (5,902) (1,445) — (361,905)
Deferred financing costs (11,466) — — — (11,466)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 460 — — — 460
Intercompany borrowings (1,510) 105 (1,820) 3,225 —

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities 9,663 (3,256) (2,022) 3,225 7,610

Net (decrease) increase in cash and 
cash equivalents 7,826 5,063 (1,535) — 11,354

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 4,362 (2,377) 2,313 — 4,298

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 12,188 $ 2,686 $ 778 $ — $ 15,652

24.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On May 1, 2003, the Company acquired the assets of All-Waste Services, located in Lebanon, New Hampshire for approximately $4.2

million. All-Waste Services provides waste and recyclables collection services. 

In June 2003 the Company entered into a service agreement with the Town of Templeton, Massachusetts to construct and operate

the town's sanitary landfill. The landfill is expected to be permitted within a year to accept 500 tons a day of municipal solid waste and

operations will likely commence in the middle of calendar 2004. 

On June 30, 2003, the Company transferred its domestic brokerage operations as well as a commercial recycling business to former

employees who had been responsible for managing those businesses, in exchange for notes receivable of approximately $5.0 million,

payable to the extent of cash flow of the businesses. 

I TEM 9 .  CHANGES  IN  AND D ISAGREEMENTS  WITH  ACCOUNTANTS  ON ACCOUNT ING AND
F INANCIAL  D ISCLOSURE  

The information required with respect to changes in the Company's accountants was previously reported in the Current Report on Form

8-K of the Company filed on May 22, 2002 and in the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed on June 18, 2002, and is

incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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Items 10, 11, 12 and 13 of Part III (except for information required with respect to executive officers of the Company which is set forth

under "Executive Officers and Other Key Employees of the Company" in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and with

respect to equity compensation plan information which is set forth under "Equity Compensation Plan Information" below) have been

omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K, since the Company expects to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, not

later than 120 days after the close of its fiscal year, a definitive proxy statement. The information required by Items 10, 11, 12 and 13 of

this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which will appear in the definitive proxy statement, is incorporated by reference into Part III of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table shows information about the securities authorized for issuance under the Company's equity compensation plans as of

April 30, 2003: 

(1) This table excludes an aggregate of 81,586 shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options assumed by the Company in connection with its

acquisition of KTI, Inc. The weighted average exercise price of the excluded options is $22.42. 

(2) In addition to being available for future issuance upon exercise of options that may be granted after April 30, 2003, 614,475 shares under the

Company's Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, of the 1,167,094 reflected in column (c), may instead be issued in the form of

restricted stock or other equity-based awards. 

(3) Includes 495,619 shares issuable under the Company's 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, of which 17,798 were issued in connection with the most

recent offering period, which ended on June 30, 2003. 

A description of the material terms of the equity compensation plans not approved by the Company's security holders is included in

Note 14 "Stockholders' Equity" to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

I TEM 14 .  CONTROLS  AND PROCEDURES  

a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. 

Based on their evaluation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c) under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of a date within 90 days of the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company's chief

executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are designed to

ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is

recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and are operating in an

effective manner. 

b) Changes in internal controls. Not applicable. 

(A) (B) (C)
Number of Securities Weighted-Average Number of Securities Remaining

to be Issued  Exercise Price of Available for Future Issuance
Upon Exercise of Outstanding  Under Equity Compensation

Outstanding Options and Options Plans (excluding securities
Plan Category Warrants (1) and Warrants reflected in column (a)(2)

Equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders 4,043,159 $ 13.22 1,167,094 (3)

Equity compensation plans 
not approved by security holders 255,000 $ 2.00 —

Total 4,298,159 $ 12.55 1,167,094 (3)
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I TEM 15 .  EXH IB ITS ,  F INANCIAL  STATEMENT  SCHEDULES  AND REPORTS  ON FORM 8 -K  

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8:

Report of Independent Public Accountants

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of April 30, 2002 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal years 2001, 2002, and 2003.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the fiscal years 2001, 2002, and 2003.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years 2001, 2002, and 2003.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule II —Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(a)(3) Exhibits:

The Exhibits that are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or that are incorporated by reference herein are set forth in

the Exhibit Index hereto.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

During the quarter ended April 30, 2003 the Company filed no reports on Form 8-K.

(c) The Exhibits that are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or that are incorporated by reference herein are set forth in 

the Exhibit Index hereto.

S IGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its

behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

CASELLA WASTE SYSTEMS, INC.

By:

/s/   John W. Casella

John W. Casella

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: July 23, 2003
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated. 

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ John W. Casella Chairman of the Board of Directors and 

John W. Casella Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) July 23, 2003

/s/ James W. Bohlig

James W. Bohlig President and Chief Operating Officer, Director July 23, 2003

/s/ Richard A. Norris Senior Vice President and Chief Financial 

Richard A. Norris Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer) July 23, 2003

/s/ Douglas R. Casella

Douglas R. Casella Director July 23, 2003

/s/ John F. Chapple III

John F. Chapple III Director July 23, 2003

/s/ Gregory B. Peters

Gregory B. Peters Director July 23, 2003

/s/ James F. Callahan, Jr.

James F. Callahan, Jr. Director July 23, 2003

/s/ Wilbur L. Ross, Jr.

Wilbur L. Ross, Jr. Director July 23, 2003

/s/ D. Randolph Peeler

D. Randolph Peeler Director July 23, 2003

/s/ Monte R. Haymon

Monte R. Haymon Director July 23, 2003
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CERTIF ICATIONS
I, John W. Casella, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Casella Waste Systems, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods

presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this

annual report is being prepared; 

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the

filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on

our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and

the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to

record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses

in internal controls; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant's internal controls; and 

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in

internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent

evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

By: /s/ John W. Casella

John W. Casella

Chief Executive Officer

Date: July 23, 2003

CERTIF ICATIONS
I, Richard A. Norris, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Casella Waste Systems, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not

misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods

presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this

annual report is being prepared; 

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the

filing date of this annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and 
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c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on

our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and

the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant's ability to

record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant's auditors any material weaknesses

in internal controls; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant's internal controls; and 

6. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in

internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent

evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

By: /s/ Richard A. Norris

Richard A. Norris

Chief Financial Officer

Date: July 23, 2003

EXHIBIT  INDEX
EXHIBIT NO. DESCRIPTION

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of January 12, 1999 and as amended by Amendments No. 1, 2 and 3 thereto,

among Casella Waste Systems, Inc. ("Casella"), KTI, Inc. ("KTI") and Rutland Acquisition Sub, Inc. (incorporated herein

by reference to Annex A to the registration statement on Form S-4 as filed November 12, 1999 (file no. 333-90913)).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Casella (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the

registration statement on Form S-8 of Casella as filed November 18, 1998 (file no. 333-67487)).

3.3 Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of Casella (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the current

report on Form 8-K of Casella as filed August 18, 2000 (file no. 000-23211)).

4.1 Form of stock certificate of Casella Class A common stock (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4 to

Amendment No. 2 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of Casella as filed October 9, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

4.2 Certificate of Designation creating Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

4.1 to the current report on Form 8-K of Casella as filed August 18, 2000 (file no. 000-23211)).

4.3 Indenture, dated January 24, 2003, by and among Casella Waste Systems, Inc., the Guarantors named therein and

U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, relating to the 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013, including the

form of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the current report on Form 8-K of

Casella as filed January 24, 2003 (file no. 000-23211)).

4.4 Exchange and Registration Rights Agreement, dated January 21, 2003, by and among Casella Waste Systems, Inc.,

the Guarantors listed therein and Purchasers listed therein, relating to the 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registration statement on Form S-4 of Casella as filed on

February 11, 2003 (file no. 333-103106)).

10.1 1993 Incentive Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registration statement on

Form S-1 of Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.2 1994 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registration statement on

Form S-1 of Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.3 1996 Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of

Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.4 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 1

to the registration statement on Form S-1 of Casella as filed September 24, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).
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10.5 Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to the Definitive Proxy Statement

on Schedule 14A of Casella as filed September 21, 1998).

10.6 1995 Registration Rights Agreement between Casella and the stockholders who are a party thereto, dated as of

December 22, 1995 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of

Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.7 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of Casella granted to John W. Casella, dated as of July 26, 1993 (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Amendment No. 1 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of Casella as filed

September 24, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.8 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of Casella granted to Douglas R. Casella, dated as of July 26, 1993

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 1 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of

Casella as filed September 24, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.9 Lease Agreement, as Amended, between Casella Associates and Casella Waste Management, Inc., dated December

9, 1994 (Rutland lease) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of

Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.10 Lease Agreement, as Amended, between Casella Associates and Casella Waste Management, Inc., dated December

9, 1994 (Montpelier lease) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the registration statement on Form S-

1 of Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.11 Lease, Operations and Maintenance Agreement between CV Landfill, Inc. and the Registrant dated June 30, 1994

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of Casella as filed August

7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.12 Restated Operation and Management Agreement by and between Clinton County (N.Y.) and the Registrant dated

September 9, 1996 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of

Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.13 Labor Utilization Agreement by and between Clinton County (N.Y.) and the Registrant dated August 7, 1996

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the registration statement on Form S-1 of Casella as filed August

7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.14 Lease and Option Agreement by and between Waste U.S.A., Inc. and New England Waste Services of Vermont, Inc.,

dated December 14, 1995 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the registration statement on Form S-

1 of Casella as filed August 7, 1997 (file no. 333-33135)).

10.15 Amendment No. 2 to Lease Agreement, by and between Casella Associates and Casella Waste Management, Inc.,

dated as of November 20, 1997 (Rutland lease). (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the registration

statement on Form S-1 of Casella as filed on June 25, 1998 (file no. 333-57745)).

10.16 Amendment No. 1 to Stock Option Agreement, dated as of May 12, 1999, by and between KTI, Inc. and the

Registrant (incorporated herein by reference to the current report on Form 8-K of Casella as filed May 13, 1999 (file

no. 000-23211)).

10.17 Power Purchase Agreement between Maine Energy Recovery Company and Central Maine Power Company dated

January 12, 1984, as amended (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registration statement on Form

S-4 of KTI as filed October 18, 1994 (file no. 33-85234)).

10.18 Host Municipalities' Waste Handling Agreement among Biddeford-Saco Solid Waste Committee, City of Biddeford,

City of Saco and Maine Energy Recovery Company dated June 7, 1991 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

10.10 to the registration statement on Form S-4 of KTI as filed October 18, 1994 (file no. 33-85234)).

10.19 Form of Maine Energy Recovery Company Waste Handling Agreement (Town of North Berwick) dated June 7, 1991

and Schedule of Substantially Identical Waste Disposal Agreements (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11

to the registration statement on Form S-4 of KTI as filed October 18, 1994 (file no. 33- 85234)).

10.20 Third Amendment to Power Purchase Agreement between Maine Energy Recovery Company, L.P. and Central Maine

Power Company dated November 6, 1995. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the registration

statement on Form S-4 as filed November 12, 1999 (file no. 333-90913)).

10.21 Non-Exclusive License to Use Technology between KTI and Oakhurst Technology, Inc. dated December 29, 1998

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the current report on Form 8-K of KTI as filed January 15, 1999 (file

no. 000-25490)).
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10.22 Management Compensation Agreement between Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and John W. Casella dated December

8, 1999 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the annual report on Form 10-K of Casella as filed

August 4, 2000 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.23 Management Compensation Agreement between Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and James W. Bohlig dated December

8, 1999 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the annual report on Form 10-K of Casella as filed

August 4, 2000 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.24 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2000, by and among the Company and the Purchasers

identified therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the current report on Form 8-K of Casella as filed

August 18, 2000 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.25 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2000, by and among the Company and the Purchasers

identified therein (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the current report on Form 8-K of Casella as filed

August 18, 2000 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.26 KTI, Inc. 1994 Long-Term Incentive Award Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (d)(3) to the Schedule TO

of Casella as filed July 2, 2001 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.27 KTI, Inc. Non-Plan Stock Option Terms and Conditions (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit (d)(4) to the

Schedule TO of Casella as filed July 2, 2001 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.28 Management Compensation Agreement between Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Charles E. Leonard dated June 18,

2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the annual report on Form 10-K of Casella as filed on July

12, 2002 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.29 Management Compensation Agreement between Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and Richard Norris dated July 20, 2001

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the annual report on Form 10-K of Casella as filed on July 12,

2002 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.30 US GreenFiber LLC Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated June 26, 2000, between U.S. Fiber, Inc. and

Greenstone Industries, Inc.  (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the annual report on Form 10-K of

Casella as filed on July 12, 2002 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.31 Purchase Agreement, dated August 17, 2001, by and among Crumb Rubber Investors Co., LLC, Casella Waste

Systems, Inc. and KTI Environmental Group, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the annual report

on Form 10-K of Casella as filed on July 12, 2002 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.32 Purchase Agreement, dated August 17, 2001, by and among New Heights Holding Corporation, KTI, Inc., KTI

Operations, Inc. and Casella Waste Systems, Inc.  (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the annual

report on Form 10-K of Casella as filed on July 12, 2002 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.33 Form of Non-Plan Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement as issued by Casella Waste Systems, Inc. to certain

individuals as of May 25, 1994 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the annual report on Form 10-K of

Casella as filed on July 12, 2002 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.34 Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated January 24, 2003, by and among

Casella Waste Systems, Inc. and its Subsidiaries (other than Excluded Subsidiaries), the lending institutions party

thereto and Fleet National Bank, individually and as administrative agent, and Bank of America, N.A., individually and as

syndication agent, with Fleet Securities, Inc. and Banc of American Securities LLC acting as Co-Arrangers

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the current report on Form 8-K of Casella as filed on January 24,

2003 (file no. 000-23211)).

10.35 Construction, Operation and Management Agreement between New England Waste Services of Massachusetts, Inc.

and the Town of Templeton, Massachusetts.

10.36 Amendment No. 1 and Release to Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement.

21.1 Subsidiaries of Casella Waste Systems, Inc.

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

99.1 Statement Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.-1350.

99.2 Statement Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.-1350.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON F INANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Casella Waste Systems, Inc.: 

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated July 22, 2003 appearing in this Annual Report on Form

10-K also included an audit of the financial statement schedules as of and for the three years ended April 30, 2003 listed in Item 15(a)(2)

of this Form 10-K.  In our opinion, these financial statement schedules present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth

therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

By: /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts

Date: July 22, 2003

F INANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Schedule II Valuation Accounts
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (in thousands)

April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Balance at beginning of period $ 5,371 $ 4,904 $ 821
Additions—Charged to expense 3,105 (895) 798
Deductions—Bad debts written off, net of recoveries (3,572) (3,188) (724)

Balance at end of period $ 4,904 $ 821 $ 895

Restructuring
(in thousands)

April 30, 2001 2002 2003

Balance at beginning of period $ — $ 4,151 $ 37
Additions—Charged to expense 4,151 (438) —
Deductions—Amounts paid — (3,676) 37

Balance at end of period $ 4,151 $ 37 $ —
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